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The searching of American vessels by British ships of war.

Avcust 2, 1850.

Referred to the Committee on Foreign Relations, and ordered to be printed.

To the Scnate of the United States: ' i

I herewith transmit to the Senate, in answer to its resolution of the 5th
instant, requesting the President to communicate to that body ‘any in-
formation, if any has been received by the government, showing thatan
American vessel has been recently stopped upon the high seas and searched
by a British ship of war,”’ the accompanying copies of papers. The gov-
ernment has no knowledge of any alleged stopping or searching on- the
high seas of Americau vessels by British ships of war, except in the cases:
therein mentioned. The circumstances of these cases will appear by the
enclosed correspondence, taken from the files of the Navy Department.
No remonstrauce or complaint, by the owners of these vessels, has been
presented to the government of the United States. -

' MILLARD FILLMORE.

Wasmineron, July 30, 1850. )

U~iTeD STATES sutp ¢ PorTsMouTH,’’
Porto Praya, June 8, 1850.

Sir: I have the honor to enclose you herewith Commander Powell’s
report of his doings on the southern station, and copies of his correspond-
ence, &c., numbered from 1 to 11, 13 to 18; also the affidavits of Captain
R. J. Clark and Mr. H. C. Raymon, of the barque ¢Navarre,”’ which
vessel was captured by a British cruiser. i

Commander Powell sent to me by the ¢ Perry”’ three seamen, whe
were on board the ¢ Navarre” at the time of her capture. I have taken’
their depositions, and forward them also. o

Lieutenant Commanding Foote informed me that, when the officers and -
crew of the ¢ Nacarre’® were brought into port, neither the captain nor
mate came near him, thongh the crew all took refuge on board his vessel.
Lieutenant Commanding Foote sent to Captain Clark, inviting him- to
come on board, if he had any complaint to make. He did not present
himself. There can be no question of that vessel having been designed
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for a slaver; and, had the ‘“Perry” not been on the coast, the captain
would not have been frightened into the abandonment of his vessel. DBe-
sides the cases mentioned by Commander Powell of the ¢ Louisa Beaton’’
and ¢t Catharine,”” some others have come to my knowledge of improper
interference with our flag. Prompt notices will be taken of these matters.
Commodore Fanshawe has evinced the greatest desire to avoid any diffi-
culty with our flag, and, I am quite sure, will give ample satisfaction for
every wrong done, and prevent the recurrence of any for the future. The

osition tuken by Commander Powel and Licutenant Foote will, of itself,
msure the observance of proper respect to our flag. It is my iutention to
proceed directly to the south coast, aud take all these matters under my
own superintendence. The information yon receive from the several re-
ports now made will show you how shamefully our flag has been used
for the purpose of carrying on the slave trade; and should you determine
to continue our cruises on the southern station, you will see the necessity
of providing for their support, without losing two-thirds of their time in
coming here for supplics. There scemns to me no better way than sending
one of the public store-ships to remain on that part of the coast, and to be
relieved at proper intervals of time by others with supplies, as they may be
required. Such a vesscl would act even as a cruiser, and be of as mmuch
service as a regular ship of war, besides affording a comfortable retreat for
the sick. I would even recommend that one of the small vessels of war
be detached, and a store-ship substituted in her place, with such a number
of light guns as she might be able to carry. In that way, the magnitude
of our force would be maintained, and its efliciency ample as it is now.

The British government have broken wp the famous slave station at
Gallinas; and so entirely abolished is the traffic in slaves, this side of
Cape St. Paul’s, that they cruise for its preveution to the eastward of that

" cape only.

If our vessels are to be continued south, and obliged to leave that coast
for supplies, Rio Janciro or Bahia would be more convenient than this
place, and would kecp the vessels constantly upon the track of the slavers.

I have the honor to be, very respectfully, your obedient servant,

F. H. GREGORY,
Commanding African squadron.
Hon. Wx. BaLLarp PresTox,
Secretary of the Navy, Washington, D. C.

Uxiten States smip JouN Apams,”’
Of Ambriz, southwest coust of Africa, Apr.l 19, 1850.

Commonore : I have the honor to report the proceedings of tl.. United
States ship ¢ John "Adams,”” under my command, since sailing from
Porto Praya, in obedience to your orders of the 6th of February last.

We touched at Monrovia, Liberia, (for kroomen and wood,) on the
17th, and sailed theuce on the morning of the 2lst of February. We
passed close to Cape Pahnas, without cominuuicating, and shaped a
course down the Gulf of Guinea. Ou the 10th of Murch anchored at
Prince’s island, where I remained until the 16th to refresh the crew
and water ship. -

As we left, on the morning of the day last named, we fell in
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and communicated with the ¢ Yorktown,’’ Commodore Marston, bound
into West Bay ; all well. The course was shaped for Cape Lopez, on
the coast of Africa, along which we ran, when the wind would serve,
until the night of the 3d of April, when we anchored off Ambriz, and
the next morning fell in with the ¢« Perry.”

The British war-steamers ¢ Cyclops,’” Captain the Hon. G. F'. Hast-
ings, senior officer of the southern division, and ¢“Rattler,”* Commander
A. Cummings, came into the anchorage in a day or two, The French
war-steamer “Caymau’’ also made the anchorage the night of the day
that we arrived.

1 entered immediately into friendly intercourse with the commander
of each of the vessels named, during which I was made acquainted with
the recent cases of capture of the vessels that make the subject of the
correspondence I have the houor to forward to you.

I understand that two of the captured vessels have never been sent in
for adjudication after capture. One of them, the ¢ Rowena,” was
set fire to and destroyed by the British commander at her anchors, off
Ambriz, because she was thought unseaworthy. She had put in for re-
pairs, as the master reports.  'T'he fate of the other is not known.

Understanding from Captain Hastiugs that he designed to despatch a
cruiser to Commodore Funshawe (supposed to be at St. Helena) with the
correspondence, and believing inyself that this is too grave a matter for
adjustment by a subordinate, I inforined him that the ¢ Perry’’ should
convey the intelligence to you. Inthe mean timne, affairs will wear a
more favorable aspect for the iuterests of our commerce generally ; and
those doubtful cases, hitherto decided so summarily, may be guarded
by the presence of American authoritics, to which I am persuaded the
British officers would gladly refer.

Leaving the ¢«Perry’’ betore Ambriz, in friendly co-operation with the
British senior officer, [ proceeded to Loando, some sixty miles to the
southward, for information and for water. Here 1 met the master of the
“ Nuvarre,”” who, after the delay of several days, (he said he had
been indisposed,) came on board and made before me the affidavit filed
amongst the papers forwarded. I had rececived the mate on board at
Ambriz. :

Having accomplished the object of my visit to ¢¢ Loando,” I sailed on
the 17th of April to rejoin the ¢ Perry’” and despatch her to you. This
was effected on the 19th.  She was still in company with the ¢Cyclops,”’
the commander of which vessel (the Hon. G. F. Hastings) sent me a
commuuication relative to the boarding of the ‘“Louisa Beaton’ by the
“rlying Fish.”” You will of course decide whether the explanation be
of a satisfactory nature. Bat, at all events, the object is in the main at-
tained, when the parties are thus held to account for their alleged violation
of our maritime rights.

On the 1st of April, according to the estimate of the purser, we had
four months’ provisions on board, with the exception of bread and rice,
of which there were but three. Since that period 1 fell in with an
American trader and procured bread enough to make up the fourth
month, and rice can be had on the coast; so that, if the provision prove
good, we can’ keep the station until the 1st of June next, by which time
you may possibly have at your disposal (if such be your desire) a vessel
to replace us. The English force on the southwest coast is a large one—
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¢ Cyclops’’ and ¢ Rattler’’ (steamers) 1 fonnd here; ‘“Pluto’’ (steamer)
at the Congo ; “Centaur’’ and ¢¢ Gladiator’’ pussed to the southward
just prior to my arrival; ‘“Water Witch’’ (brig) is off Bengucla; ¢“Flying

ish'” (brig) off Kabenda; doubiless others—for information of which I
respectfully refer you to Licutenant Commanding Foote. These vessels
have all made captures, and some of them of several vessels claiming, in
the first instance, American nationality—in short, capturing uuder the
circumstances set forth in the paners submitted to your cousideration.
Nor do 1 see any permanent remedy for it (unless approved) but the pres-
ence of an American force.

Our people are thus far healthy; and, up to this day, I have found the
climate good. The officers are well.

I have already troubled you with a large correspondenee, and will
therefore conclude with the assurance that I am, commeodore, very re-
spectfully, your most obedient servant,

L. M. POWELL,

Commandcr.
Commodore Francis H. GrEcory,

Commanding United Sta'es nuval furces
on the west coast of Africa.

Uxrren StaTes soie “Jonx Apams,”
Off Ambriz, soutincest coast of Africa, April 19, 1850,
Commopore: 1 have the honer to forward such papers of the barque
¢« Navarre'’ as the late master, Clark, was able to put into my hands; also
the shipping articles, preserved by the mate, Raywon; to be filed with the
aflidavits and sent to the Secretary of the Navy, at his request,
They are numbered from 1 to 16, with a receipt explaining the same.
I am, very respectfully, your most obedient servant,
L. M. POWELL, Commander.
Commodore F. H. GreGony,
Commanding United Stutes naval forces
on flie west coast of Africa.

S1. Pace v Lossoo, April 16, 1850.

Received of Captain RobertJ. Clark, late master of the Awerican barque.
¢ Navarre,”’ of Philadelphia, the following list of papers pertaining to the
said barque, purporting to be—

1. Crew list, Rio de Juneiro. 28th December. 1850, signed at the
United States consulate by Cuarlos Raynstord, for United States consul;

2. Crew list, Santa Catharina, 15th January, 1850, signed at the United
States consulate by Robert S. Catheart, acting United S:ates consul;

3. Certificate of crew list, Santa Catharma, 15th January, 1850,
signed at the United States counsulite by Robert S. Catheart, acting
United States cousul;

4. Bill of health, Santa Catharina, 15th January, 1850;

6. Certificate of the nationality of the American barque ¢ Navarre,'’
Santa Cathanna, 15th January. 1850, signed at the United States con-
sulate by R. 8. Cathcart, acting United States consul;
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6. Clearance from custom-house, January 15, 1850;

7. Bill of hospital tax, January 15, 1850;

8. Consul’s bill for papers, &c., 15th January, 1850, signed by R.
S. Cathcart, acting United States consul; :

9. Certificate of deposite of substituted register and shipping papers in
the United States consulate at Santa Catharina, signed by R. S. Cathcart,
acting United States consul;

13. Certificate of increase of erew list, signed at the United States con-
sulate at Santa Catharina, by R. S. Cathcart, United States consul.

Together with the shipping articles received from the mate at Ainbriz,
and also sundry old papers found in the said barque ¢ Navarre’ (subse-
quent to his purchase of her) by Captain Clark.

. L. M. POWELL,

Commander in the U, S. navy, ond com’c U. 8. ship <« John Adamns.”

St. Pave ve Loanpo,
United States ship ¢ Joln Adams,”’ Aprit 17, 1850.

Sir: I herewith euclose a receipted list of papers left in my hands by
you yesterday.

I also talke this oceasion to certify that you made a protest to me, in
full, setting forth the illegal capture, by her Britannic Majesty’s steam-
ship ¢ Firefly,” of the American barque ¢¢ Nuvarre,”’ of Philadelphia, of
which you are the late master.

Very respectfully, your obedient servant,
L. M. POWELL, Commander.

Capt. Rosenr J. CLark,

Late master of the barque ¢ Navarre,” St. Pawl de Loando.

U. S. «“ Suir Joun Apams,”’
At sea, off Ambriz, April, 1850.

Commonorg: | forward for your information the accompanying corre-
spondence with the commanders of her Britannic Majesty’s cruisers named
therein, touching the capture of several vessels claiming to be American,
but said to have been seized under Brazilian colors, as Brazilian property,
by the oflicers of the British cruisers, after the Aerican flag had been
struck; and also the complaints of sowe of the captured parties, together
with those of two masters of American merchant vessels, the only two I
have fallen in with ou the southwest coast of Africa.

The list of captures, for which I beg to refer you to Lieutenant Com-
manding A. H Foote, who furnished e with it, may be deemed a laige
oune; and the cause of capture, so far as set forth in the enclosed reports
of British officers, seems to be inadequate and insufficient.  Under this
impression I have interposed, so far as the very imperfect information, re-
ceived for the most part from the British commanders, would justify the
interposition. .

That our flag is used and abused for the purpose of sheltering the
African slave trader, both here and on the coast of Brazil, is a shameful
uuth—Dby Brazilians, and other foreiguers, to evade the British cruisers;
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and by our own people, to cover foreigners and their property from search
and capture, when the latter were destined for the slave trade. But this,
though unlawful before an American tribunal, gives no right to a foreign
" officer to visit, search, and seize an American vessel; nor has this been
the plea for seizure, but quoted to strengthen the alleged cause, to wit:
¢ false American papers’’—to sustain which allegation, not a tittle of evi-
dence other than assertion has been adduced.

In the mean time, several vessels under the flag, with American mas-
ter, mate, and crew, proper log-hook, and ¢ American papers,”’ are
boarded, the papers declared ¢ false,”” and another nationality set up,
seemingly for the sole purpose of seizure. For why should anoer pasty
volunteer to b€ seized as a guilty party 7 The vessel is ‘¢ seized accord-
ingly,’’ sent up to St. Helena, and in ten days thereaftgr passes through
the court.

These entire proceedings appear to me to be so irregular as to require
their immediate communication to the commander-in-chief; and I have
therefore determined to despatch the ¢ Perry,”” whose time is up, or
neasly so, with this information.

“With the hope, commodore, that these proceedings will meet your ap-
probation, I am, sir, very respect(ully, your obedient servant,
L. M. POWELL, Commander.

Commodore Francis H. Greconry,

Commanding U. 8. naval forces,
Coast of Africa.

U. S. Sure ¢“ Joun Apawns,’’
Of Ambriz, southwest coast of Africa, April T, 1850.

Sir: On the list of captures of American vessels, or vessels under the
American flag, politely furnished by Captain Hastings, of the ¢ Cyclops,’”
to Lieutenant Foote, commanding U. S. brig ¢ Perry,’” 1 find the ¢ Lucy
Ann’’ named as one of them, and seized by the ¢ Rattler,” under your
command.

As everything connected with the use and abuse of the American flag
on this coast is necessarily of peculiar interest at this moment, I most re-
spectfully request that you will be pleased to communicate to me, for the
information of my government, the requisite details for the thorough un-
derstanding of the case in question.

With high consideration, I am, sir, very respectfully, your obedient

servant,
L. M. POWELL,
Commander U. S. Navy.
Commander A. Commine,
Commanding H. B. M. steam-sloop <¢ Rattler,”
off Ambriz, southwest coast of Africa.
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H. M. sTEam-sL00P ‘ RATTLER,”
Of Ambriz, April 7, 1850.

Sir: T have the honor to acknowledge the receipt of your letter of this
day, requesting me to furnish you, for the information of your govern-
ment, with the details of the capture by H. M. sloop under my command
olf a brig ¢ called” the ¢ Lucy Ann,” on the 20th February, with 547
slaves.

In compliance with your request, I beg to enclose a copy of the particu-
fars attending her seizure, which I had the honor to transmit on that
occasion to the British commander-in-chief, Commodore Fanshawe, C. B.

With high counsideration, I have the honor to be, sir, your obedient

servant
’ ARTHUR CUMMING, Commander.

Commander I.. M. PoweLL,
Commanding U. S. corvette < John Adams.”

HeRrR MasesTy’s sTEAM-8L0OP “RATTLER,”’
At sea, February 22, 1850,

Sir: I have the honor to inform you that, on the 20th instant, her
Majesty’s sloop ¢¢ Rattler’’ captured a brig called the ¢ Lucy Ann,”” with
five hundred and forty-seven slaves on board.

The facts connected with this capture are instructive, and will tend to
show the difficulties which beset an officer in the discharge of an onerous
duty on this coast; and I therefore beg to submit the following:

On the evening of the 18th instant, I personally boarded this vessel,
for the first time, off Ambrizette, and examined her papers, to ascertain her
nationality. They appeared to me in order, and sufficient to justify her
sailing under the flag of the United States. They had also previously
been examined by several experienced officers, withount a defect having been
detected. The visit, sir, was performed with the respect due to the honor-
able flag she had assumed, and in strict compliance with the instruec-
tions—the brig not even having been hove-to on my goiug on board or
quitting her. Her movements, however, having excited my suspicion, at
night-fall, I placed her Majesty’s sloop in a position to ““see her,”’ should
she sail with slaves; and on tiie morning of the 20th, the samne brig hove
in sight, standing to the westward, having a moderate breeze, and under
all sail.  As she continued her course, and no effort to escape being made,
I was enabled to board her at 9h. 30m. a. m., and was shown the papers
I had previously examined, without observing any alteration. She wag
at this time under the United States flag. Her decks were perfectly clean
and her hatchways carefully—I may add almost hermetically—closed, an
a boom-boat over all. When ahout to leave, a low, indistinct murmur,
wrung from the accumulating sufferings of her human cargo, became audi-
ble, and steam, forced from the pressure below, visible. 1 “mutely’’ di-
rected the ostensible captain’s attention to this, when he instantly declared
the papers to be false—that he was not the master—ordered the mate to
haul the American ensign down, and hoist her proper colors, Brazilian,
under which flag the hatches were removed, and a most revolting spec-
tacle exhibited. More than five hundred slaves of both sexes had been
thrust below, impressed with the idea that, if they betrayed themselves by
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the slighest noise, their lives would be immediatzly sacrificed: they there-
fore preserved the strictest silence until the powers of endurance became
exhausted.

I endeavored to secure the papers, which were confessedly false, but
found an opportunity had been taken to throw them overboard—a circum-
stance I much regret.

Many of the crew were evidently citizens of the United States—which,
however, they denied ; and, in the absence of any proof of their nationality,
1 was reluctlantly induced to allow thes: to land with the Brazilian crew.
Their anxiety to avoid being recognised as Americans is a clear proof of
the sincerity of that governinent; for they looked with dread upo: the sure.
and certain punishment that would have awaited them. '

I believe, sir, I am not singular in my opinion, when Istate that at
least one-half of the successful part of the slave trade is carried on under
the American flag—but certainly not under its protection. 1 have had the
opportunity of meeting American cruisers in the bights of Benin and
Biafra, and can bear testimony to the vigilance with which their oflicers
watch over their flag, in order to prevent its being violated by adventurers
who may think proper to hoist it, without any legal right, for the impuni-
ty it affords them; but tne number of American cruisers on the station is
s0.small, in proportion to the immense extent of the sluve-dealing coast,
that it is to be feared, unless that squadron is increased, or more extended
powers granted to the commanders of her Majesty’s criisers in ascertain-
ing (in these waters) the true nationality of a vessel hoisting the flag of a
nation not a party to the slave treaties, the generous sacrifices of our
country may be lost, and the hopes of the Alrican philanthropist never
be realized.

' I have the honor to be, sir, your most obedient servant,
ARTHUR CUMMING,
Cummander.
Commedore ArTaUR Fansuaweg, C. B.,
Comumnander in chief, §ec.

U. S. sutpe ¢ Joux Apams,’’
Near Ambriz, southwest coast of Africa, April 7, 1850.

Sir : The verbal information tendered by you during my visit to-day,
touching the capture of several vessels under the novel and peculiar cir-
cumstances of wearing the flag of the United States, showing American
papers, officered and mauned in part by American citizens, and exhibiting
a log-book in due form to the boarding officer and to the commander of
H. B. M. cruiser conducting the cxamination; and then, when noti-
fied that the examination was not satisfactory, and the determination
announced that the vessel and parties claiming American nationality
should be sent for adjudication to the United States authorities, the
striking said United States flag, destroying the papers, (in one case by
seizing them from the hands of the Briush officer, and casting them iuto
the sea,) the absolute denial of being the proper oflicers of said vessel or
vessels, and bringing forward new claimants to the ownership and officers
in the persons of Brazilians, who were hitherto silent lookers on, and
who hoisted the Braziliau flag, and the consequent seizure of the vessel,—
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were heard by me with the interest which the subject merited. I take
this occasion to say that it was received in the friendly spirit which
marked the tone of the communication—with a full appreciation of the
difficult and embarussing circumstances attending the transactions.

It would liave been my duty to request of you a more formal statement
of the details of capture or scizure of the vessels, but for the infoimation
also given that the subject-matter had already been transferred to the
commaunder in chief of the British forces on the coast of Africa.

I agree with you that the past occurrences in question are in the proper
channel of comumunication between the functionaries of our respcetive
governnients.

Butas new cases of similar character may present themselves, I feel
impelled by a sense of duty to repeat here the opinion expressed at the
interview above recited, with some additional reflections. On the high
seas, the flag, the papers, the Awmerican master, mate, and crew in part,
the log-book, and American build of the vessel, are evidence of American
nationality which must be conclusive, as to foreigners. These embrace
all the evidence which ships can give as to their true and lawful character;
and they may be defective iu many respects, in the eye of the law of the
natious to which they belong, respectively, without forfeit of loss of nation-
ality, which can ouly be chianged under certain provisions of the law.
"T'he averments of parties claiming the benefit of American nationality must
be either admitted or denied It the first, the officials of a foreign power
have, of right, no manuer of control or jurisdiction, vo mctter what the
purport of the vuyage may be, (piracy excepted ) If denied, there exists
no right in the forcign otlicial 10 adjudicate the case on the high seas:
the claimants and their property must be taken iuto court, or must be
released.

If these principles be sound, apply them to the case now in question.
The vessel is Awerican in 1mnodel, an American claims to be her master,
as also her mate and crew in part, the papers are exhibited, the log-book
opened, all under her proper tlag, but the foreign boarding officer is not
yet satisfied as to her nationality. There are suspicious Brazilians about
the deck, and he demands a further scrutiny, and finds the vessel pre-
pared to receive or actually full of slaves. . lu the mean time, the master is
alarmed, hauls down the American flag, destroys his papers, declares he
is not the captain, calls out a Brazilian, who invests himself with office as
the captain.  All this, in some cases, in the presence of the British officer,
who seizes the vessel as Brazilian, and discharges the delinquents. He
adjudicates the case as far as the American parties are concerned, and
perhaps wrongfully—certainly so far as the suppression of the slave trade
is involved; and this is the only object for which our governments expend
the treasure and sacrifice the lives of our people on this coast so freely—
wrongfully, for the probabilities are that the destroyed papers are genuine
docuents, which, produced in evidence against the parties before United
States tribunals, would subject them to heavy penalties of the laws pro-
hibiting the slave trade—wrongfully, for the parties, be they who they
may, are not held to answer for their crimes.

Is it not, theretore, reasonable to infer that this is the motive for the
destruction of the papers—that they are too good for preservation? If so,
or if there be a reasonable doubt of it, is not the adjudication premature
and wrongful, both as regards the government of the United States, which
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-alone has jurisdiction in the case, and wrongful, as regards the common
object, to wit : the suppression of the African slave trade, from the absolute
impunity afforded to the atrocious violators of our laws? Hence, is not
the inference a fair one, not that the papers were false, but genuine, and
proved too much? ’

It is wrong in other respects. [tis a dangerous exercise of surveillance
over the commerce of a friendly nation; for the boarding officer may be
mistaken. That such is the fact, perhaps in most of the enwmerated
instances, may fairly be inferred from the admission that one or more of
the vessels captured by H. B. M. cruisers—the ¢ Lucy Ann,” for in-
stance—had been previously examined, and suffered to proceed on her
voyage as a true and lawful American trader, and two days after was
seized by the same cruiser, (‘¢ Rattler,’’) with identical papers. Such pro-
ceedings lead directly to those vexatious annoyances which tend to disturb
the otherwise amicable relations of nations ardently desirous of perpetu-
ating peace. Two instances in point have already been brought under
my notice, though but a few days upon the coast—the first, that of the
barque ¢ Catharine,’” Stodder, master, spoken at sea, before my arrival;
and the zecond, the report of the master of the ¢ Louisa Beaton,’” Captain
Bailey—the second American merchant trader which I have fallen in
with here.

It pained me to learn from each of the parties named that they felt ag-
grieved at what they deemed vexatious interruptions, to which they had
been subjected by the British cruisers whilst i the prosecution of their
lawful counnerce.

I transmit the report of the boarding officer of this ship.

The second complained to me in person that he had been boarded off
Kabenda by an officer from the ¢ Feying Fish,”> who ordered his hatches
to be taken off, but was requested by said master first to examine his
papers before he searched, and reminded that the laws of the United
States did not admit of the right of search.

The African slave trade is carricd on to the same extent nearly (as a
point of delivery) on the Brazil coast, along the shores of which is the
great highway of half the commerce of the United States. Shall this
summary process to be translated thither? The statement of the case
carries its proper answer. However much the hearts of our people
may be set upon the abolition of the African slave trade, I do not hazard
much in saying that they are not prepared to pay this price to effect it.

But let us reverse the case as made by the captors of the vessel, which
has led to these reflections. 1'he vessel hoists the Brazilian flag, shows
her papers and her log. The Brazilian master and his crew appear, to
meet the scrutiny of the boarding officer. She fails to prove her nation-
ality, and is about to be seized, for any supposed cause. Shall it be suf-
fered that his first character may be repudiated, and the vessel rescued at
the last moment by a transfer of it to unother party, kept in reserve for
such a contingency? And yet such is the case in hand, and applies, I
believe, to each and all of the recent captures made by her Britannic
Majesty’s cruisers on this station, where the American flag was used.

"The conversation at this stage naturally turned wpou a remedy for these
embarrassing difficulties in the way of officers charged with the execution
of duties involving consequences of so grave a nature. The naval com-
manders of our respective countries are enjoined by the treaty of 1842 to
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consult for co-operation in the measures best calculated to effect the com-

 mon object; and I gave you my opinion then, and take this occasion to
repeat it, that I do not think the admission of the second-hand claimants
to confer new nationality on the vessel about to be disposed of, on the
high responsibility of the captors, for the reasons above recited, is the
best means of effecting the suppression of the African slave trade; that,
on the contrary, whilst it may do grievous wrong to one of the parties, it
secures the evil-doers from the penalty of the law.

In conclusion, I refer with unfeigned gratification to the sequel of our
reaewed conference upon the matter now in question, wherein you say
that the presence of the United States forces on this coast will enable you
to refer cases of doubtful nationality aflecting American interests to the
authorities most concerned, and that such will be the course of her Bri-
tannic Majesty’s cruisers under your orders until the result of the con-
templated reference to your commander-in-chief shall be known; and to
the readiness manifested by you to co-operate in any manner with the
naval forces of the United States in the more effectual suppression of the
slave trade.

Permit me to add that the acquaintance which has grown out of our
brief intercourse with yourself and officers has been a source of pleasure
to me, and that I am, sir, most respectfully, your obedient servant,

L. M. POWELL,
Commander United States Navy.
Captain the Hon. Georce F. Hasrtines,
Secnior officer of the Southern Division of H. B. B. forces
on the southwest coast of Africa, off Awmbriz.

Her Brrran~ic Masesty’s sTEAMsHIP ¢ Cycrops,’
OF Ambriz, soutlwest coast of Africa, April 8, 1850,

Srr: T have the honor to ackuowledge the receipt of your letter of yes-
terday, recapitulating a conversation which I had the honor of holding
with you on the subject of the recent captures made by her Britannic
Majesty’s cruisers on the south coast, of .Brazilian vessels, who, on first
boarding, displayed the American colors, and produced American papers
to our boarding officers, but eventually, on the officer observing the ille-
gality of their papers, register, &c., and doubting their nationality,
changed their characters immediately to Brazilian, and, without any in-
timidation or coercion on our parts, deliberately destroyed the American
papers, hauled down the American colors, and gave their vessels up as
fully -equipped Brazilians for the slave trade.

1 gladly bear testimony to the most perfect correctness of this conver-
sation, as related by you from memory, on this subject, and would now
beg to offer you my remarks upon the statements you have thought it your
duty to address to me.

1. I would beg very respectfully to deny that in any of our recent cap-
tures we have attempted to adjudicate upon any of the cases; for, on
the vessels being delivered over to us as Brazilians, they were detained,
and, in every instance but tio, (which were vessels in a disabled and
leaky state,) sent to St. Helena for adjudication, and, by our accounts
received from the admiralty court there, have been condemned. Had the
American papers which were presented been the legal eues, and the mas-
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ter remained true to his colors, of course our duty would have been,
doubting the vessel’s nationality, to have apprized the American authori-
ties of the vessel’s suspicious character, and have left the case in their
hands; but the destruction of the papers by the parties placed it beyond
our power to bring any charge against them as other than Brazilians,
which the majority of the crew claimed to be,

2. The complaints which you state have been made already to you by
the masters of the American traders—that they felt aggrieved at what they
deemed vexatious interference, to which they were subjected—surprise
me much, for in no instance has any complaint been preferred to me by any
master of an American vessel. It is true that we have certainly boarded
American traders, but, in every instance that has come to my knowledge,
stricly complied with the spirit of the treaty between the United States
and Great Britain in visiting vessels of the former nation to ascertain their
true nationality.

We have becn placed in a very difficult and delicate position with re-
spect to American traders, not having seen any American cruisers on this
coast for, 1 believe, the last two years; und vessels which to-day were
boarded by our cruisers as Amwericans, having, as they stated, general
cargo on board for the coast of Africa, have been captured the next day
with slaves on board, under Brazilian colors, and given up to us as Bra-
zilian vessels. One casce out of many [ beg to send for your information,
as contained in the letter (marked No. 1) enclosed.

3. I can see no analogy in the cases you ¢ reverse’’—vessels employed
as legal traders not being permitted to carry fwo sets of papers, or claim
for their convenience a nationality they are not cutitled to; and 1 consider
it my duty in any part of the world to detain and send for trial before the
proper tribunal vessels so situated. In my opinion, such vessels would
be considered pirates, and vessels of war could legally detain theim on the
high seas. I am also of apinion, from the knowledge which I have
obtained in the recent captures, that had an American cruiser fallen in
with any of those vessels, and no British vessel in sight, they would
have displayed the Braz.lian colors, and presented Brazilian papers, for
the purpose of evading the American officers’ scrutiny.

I enclose a report (marked No. 2) detailing the capture of the barque
¢ Pilot”’ by her Britannic Majesty’s steam-ship under my command. I
boarded her in person, and examined her papers. No intimidation or
threats were used, but the vessel was deliberately given up to me as a
Brazilian slave vessel. This same vessel was recognised by some of our
officers as having visited this part of the coast (Ambriz) last July, then
called the ¢ Quiney,”’ of Boston, and commanded by the same person,
who presented himself as the master on the last occasion; that he shipped
750 slaves in the month before named; had landed them in safety in the
Brazils; and it not being considered expedient to appear again on the
coast under the name of ¢ Quincy,” the vessel was differently painted,
a false register was obtained at Rio, and her name altered to the ¢ Pilot.”
This system has been going on for some years, as well as a constant sale
of American vessels, comin, over to this coast with legal cargoes, who
have becen disposed of to the slave dealers after the cargoes have been
sold—the flag and papers retained for their protection up to the moment
of the embarcation of the slaves. Indeed, an instance of this occurred a
few weeks since, by the American brigantine ¢¢ Chatsworth,” of Balti-
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more, having escaped with six hundred slaves from the neighborhood of
Ambriz. '

I can assure you, sir, of my very great desire, as well as that of every
one of my brother officers on this coast, to confine ourselves strictly to
the treaty agreed upon by our respective governments in visiting vessels
of your nation; and I shall have pleasure iu apprizing you for the future
of all vessels that I may deem to be of a suspicious character, in order
that you may take such steps as may appear to you necessary.

1t only remains for me to add that 1 shall gladly co-operate with you
on every occasion for the furtherance of the suppression of the African
slave trade; and it has given me great pleasure to have had the honor of
making your acquaintance.

I have the honor to be, sir, your obedient servant,

GEO. F. HASTINGS,
Captain in her Britannic Mojesty’s Navy.
Levin M. PowEeLL, Esq.,
Commander in the United States Nuavy, commanding the
U. 8. ship ¢ John Adams,”’ senior officer of the U. S.
naval forces south of the equator, Ambriz.

[Enclosure No. 1.]

¢ Cycrops,”’ Loaxvo, December 2, 1849,

Sir: I have the lirnor to bring to your notice the following particulars
with refercuce to the boarding of the American brigantine ¢ Casco’ by a
boat of her Majesty’s steamship under my conmmand, at daylight ou the
27th ultimo, while steaming to the southward. Between Ambriz and
Mazula a sail was observed close under the land, and on coming up with
the vessel she showed American colors. 1 sent Licutenant Branch to
board her. 'The master produced a paper called a sea-letter from the con-
sul of the United States at Rio de Janeiro, (Mr. Gorham Parks,) granting
that vessel protection whilst trading in Africa, and stating that the «“Casco’’
had been disposed of by one American citizen to another in the harbor of
Rio de Janeiro, after a survey—the cargo stated to be general, and bound
to Ambriz. I felt doubtful as to the American’s honesty; but, being in
want of coal, I proceeded towards Loando, aud on my way fortunately
feil in with. some time afterwards, her Majesty’s stcam-vessel ¢ Pluto,”
and directed her commander to proceed to watch the movements of the
« Casco.”

The next morning the ¢ Pluto’’ discovered the above-named vessel at
ancher, in the act of shipping a cargo of slaves.  She innnediately slipped,
and ¢ Pluto,” after a short chase, captured her, having on board 420
slaves, without papers. 1 have not yel received my oflicial report from
Lieutenant Jollifle, but will transmit it to you the moment received.

I regret to say the American flag has been made use of on many occa-
sions, since 1 have been employed on this division of the station, for the
purpose of affording protection to the vessels engaged in the slave trade,
so as to perriit arrungements o be made by agents of the parties for the
purchase of cargoes of slaves; and whenever a good opportunity is ob-
served, such as the absence of a British cruiser, the shipment is effected ,
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the colors hauled down, and the papers destroyed or secreted, perhaps to
be again used on another occasion,

No Ameriecan vessel of war has heen seen on this part of the coast for
many months; and if this system of muking use of or purchasing Ameri-
cun nationality is continued, in my opinion, no efforts on the part of the
cruisers will have any avail in putting a stop to the traffic in slaves.

I have the honor to be, sir, your obedient servant,

G. . HASTINGS, Captain.

To Arruur Fansuawe, Esq., C. B,

Commeodore, and commantler-in-chief, west coust of Africa.

[Enclosure No. 2.]

“Cvcrors,’” Loanpo, January 11, 1850,

Str: Whilst at anclior in Ainbriz roads, awaiting the arrival of her Ma-
jesty’s steam-vessel << Pluto,” two sails were observed in the ofling, which,
ou the weather clearing, were made out to be the ¢ Pluto’’ and a barque
under American colors.,

Licutenaut Jollitfe boarded the barque, and considered the papers pro-
duced by her master very unsatisfactory; but, as the vessel was bouud to
Ambriz, he thought it right to bring the matter under my notice. On the
barque anchoring, I visited her, und demanded to sce her papers,  The
master produced the register, in which it was stated she was bouud to
Culifornia; and he asserted she had been sold in the harbor of Rio de Ja-
neiro, having put in there in distress, to a Mr. Frank Smith, a resident of
that place, but an American citizen, being a native of Philadelphia. The
master produced no document mentioning the transfer and sale of the
vessel, sea-letter, nor indeed any authority for wearing the colors under
which she wus at the time. I informed him that I doubted his nation-
ality—more particularly as out of the crew on deck there was only one
other American person, the rest being forcigners—and in consequence
should search the vessel.  Ou opening the hatches, she was found to be
fully fitted for the slave trade, with fourteen Brazilians on the slave-deck,
in addition to the foreigners already mentioned, and two Brazilians on
deck as passengers.

I then acquainted the master with my intention to detain the vessel,
and that I would deliberate respecting her disposal, and returned on board
the ¢ Cyclops.” Some two hours afterwards, one of the Brazilian pas-
sengers, who now aflirmed himself to be the real captain, came on board,
and acquainted me that, fecling it useless to cvade capture, he had de-
stroyed the false American colors and papers, and substituted the Brazil-
ian flag. I therefore was at liberty to seize his vessel, and in conse-
quence took possession of the Brazilian barque ¢ Pilot,”” of 300 tons, fully
equipped for the slave trade; and I sent her to St. Helena in charge of
Lieutenant Dew.

1 found the barque ¢ Pilot,” at that time an American, was disposed
of, as before stated, some months since, to Mr. F. Smith, of Rio de Ja-
neiro, who, I hear, is the same individual who was mentioned in the sea-
letter produced by the brigantine ¢¢ Casco,’” (the capture and case attend-
ing it was reported in one of my letters to you of the 2d ultimo,) which
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vessel came over to the coast of Africa under nearly the same circum-
stances as the barque. 1f Mr. Smith is enabled to purchase Anierican
vessels, procure protection from the United States consul, he (Mr. Smith)
being, as T am informed, in the pay of the slave merchants at Rio de Ja-
neiro, and thus procure for Brazilian property the fraudulent use of the
American flag, with iinpunity, the performance of our duty in suppressing
the slave trade will be increased in difficulties, it being in many cases
sce~~ _y possible to discern between the ¢rue and false American.

The person (Mr. J. Myers) who represented himsclf, on my boarding
the ¢¢ Pilot,”’ as the American master, has since informed me that he held
the same position on board the alleged American barque ¢ Quincy,”’
(whom you, sir, may remember being on the south coast in June and July
last;) that she was at the time boarded by the ¢ Centaur,”” and the crui-
sers (bonar fide Brazilian property) had all the requisite fitments for slaves,
and in charge of a Brazilian master, who appeared as passenger; that the
Quincey shipped 650 slaves the same night that she was boarded by some
of the Loats of our cruisers, and that betore this shipinent took place they
had at Ambriz embarked their full cargo of slaves; but, the smoke of a
steamer appearing in the offing, (which vessel afterwards proved to be the
«(entaur,’’) the whole of the slaves were relanded in less than one hour,
having employed upwards of thirty-five boats for this service; and that,
on being boarded by the ¢ Centamr’s” boat, the Awmcrican master and
papers were agaiu produced.

I bring these strong cases under your notice, and would respectfully
solicit your directions for my guidance on again fulling in with Brazilian
vessels, the owners of which have apparently purchased the right to dis-
play the American flag and produce American papers for their protection.

1 have the honor to be, sir, your obedicut servant,

GLO. F. HASTINGS, Captain.

Arruvr Faxsmawe, Bsq., C. B.,

Comanodore, and commnander-in-chief, west coast of Africa.

UniTeED StaTES sutp ¢ JouN Apawms,”
Off Ambriz, southwest coast of Africa, April 8, 1850.

Sir: I have the honor to enclose you a paper marked A, being a state-
meut of Captain Stodder, of the American barque ¢ Catharine,” 1nade
to Lieutenant Pegram, of this ship, who boarded said barque onthe 2d
instant, with the full assurance that the submission of the same will
elicit a satisfactory explanation.

Also statement marked B, being the certificate of Braddick Chester,
mate of the American brig ¢ Louisa Beaton,’’ in reference to the board-
ing of thatbrig by her Britannic Majesty’s cruiser ¢ Flying Fish’s’’ board-
ing officer, about the 28th of March last, off Congo river, which gertifi-
cate is confirmed by Mr. Joseph Bailey, master of the ‘¢ Louisa Beaton.”

Also the aflidavit of Hiram C. Raymon, late mate of the barque ¢¢ Na-
varre,”’ marked C; to all of which 1 referred in my letter of yesterday.

[ am, sir, very respectfully, your obedient servant,
L. M. POWELL,
Commander United States Navy.

Captain Georce F. Hastings,

Senior officer of the Southern Division of H. B. M. forces,
southwestern coast of Africa.



[ 66] 16
A.

April 2, 1850, boarded the American barque Catharine, of Sulem, Cap-
tain Stodder, two days out {rom Awbriz.

Captain Stodder states that, about a fortnight ago, the barque ¢ Na-
varre,’’ of Philadelphia, was captured at Ambriz, by the British stcamer
¢ Firefly.”” The English commander boarded the ¢ Navarre,” and threat-
ened her captain that he would lift his hatches and search the hold for
evidence of his being engaged in the slave trade. Finally, he told the
captain that, if he persisted in keeping American colors up, he would cap-
ture him, and deliver his vessel and crew to the American commodore,
who would send him to the United States to staud his trial for piracy.
Intimidated by this wenace, the captain of the ¢ Navarre’’ hauled down
his American colors, said the vessel was not an American, and hoisted a
Brazilian flag.  On this, she was taken possession of by the British com-
mander. The ¢ Navarre’ had a slave-deck laid. 'T'he captain is now
at Loando.

Captain Stodder stated that he had been much annoyed himself by
English cruisers firing shot at him, and compelling him to heave-to;
among others, he was chased by the launch of the ¢ Centaur,”” which
fired shot at hi, and afterwards rockets at his sails, for the purpose, as
he believes, of crippling him. He has been frequently hove-to by shot
fired from vessels which knew him perfectly well for an American and
fair trader. He says he could not move about the coast without being
harassed in this way. A vessel that had becu lying by his side in the
morning, and whose oflicers had then made purchases of him, would fire
at him when under way in the afternoon, under pretence of not knowing
who he was. Captain Stodder thinks it highly importaut that cur cruisers
should be kept on this purt of the coast, to protect our legal commerce
from interferences which are not only vexatious in thewselves, but fre-
quently attended with serivus loss of time, and someiimes jeoparding

the objects of the voyage.
R. B. PEGRAM,
Licutenant United States Navy.

Witness present:
J. BeaL, Surgeon U. S. Navy.

;

B.

I, Braddick Chester, mate of the American brig ¢ Louisa Beaton,” do
hereby cerlify that I took off the main hatch, by order of the mas‘er,
Joseph Briley, and thereapon the boarding officer from the British man-
of-war ¢ Flying Fish” did, with some of his people, enter the hold with
lights in a lantern, and. after examination, proceeded to the forchold, the
hatches of which were litted, and the same parties cutered and examined
the said forchold. We had one hundred and fifty kegs of gunpowder
in the forehold, and no one on board had ever entered it with a light, nor
did any one of our people descend into either hold during the search or

examination.
BRADDICK CHESTER.
Orr Amnriz, April §, 1850,

Witness: C. C. PowkLL.
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I confirm the above statement in all respects; and further add, that a
lady passenger was terrified by the accidental explosion of a pistol-cap as
the boarding party leaped on board at night, she thinking it a gun dis-
charged; and hereunto set my hand. This took place about 9 p. m., on

or about the 28th March last.
JOSEPH BAILLY.

C

Uxrrep Stares suip ¢ Joun Apams,”’
Off Ambriz, west coust of Africa.

Personally appeared before me, Levin M. Powell, commander in the
United States navy, in command of said ship ¢“John Adams,’’ on this
8th day of April, A. D. 1850, Hiram C. Raymon, who, being duly sworn,
deposeth and saith: That he was born in the State of Massachusetts, and
follows the sea, and, being in Rio de Janeciro, was recommended to Cap-
tain Clark, who wonted amate. Agreed with said Clark to sail as mate of
the barque ¢¢ Navarre,”” then commanded by said Clark. Agreed to serve
with said Clark in said barque ‘¢ Navarre ’’ for nine months, according to
teris and conditions set forth in the shipping articles preserved by him and
now produced, which said artieles were signed and certified, in due form,
in the office of the United States consul at Rio de Janeiro, in the pres-
ence of said cousul, (Kent,) the whole being done by him, and, to the
best of his knowledge and belicf, by all the parties, in good faith; and
further, that the shipping articles now produced, as aforesaid, is a good
and lawful document in all respects.

The deponent further saith that the barque ¢¢ Navarre ”’ sailed on the
first day of January, 1850, on a voyage to St. Catharine’s, Brazil, for a
freight; that Captain Clark negotiated for several days with the master
of the American ship ¢ Oceanus,’”’ of Boston, then at St. Catharine’s,
receutly damaged on her voyage to California, as to the terms on which
said Clark would take the carco of said ¢ Oceanus’’ on freight to Califor-
nia; that the amount offered—to wit, ten thousand dollars—was not
decmed sufficient, and that thereon said Clark announced his intention
te sail for the coast of Africa, with the view to a sale of his vessel, (said
¢ Navarre,”’) if a purchaser on his terms should be found.

And the deponent further saith that the papers of said ¢ Navarre’’—to
wit, her register, shipping articles, &c.—were in all respects true and
lawful papers; that the said vessel had been engaged in trade between
Philadelphia and Pernambuco several voyages; aud that when she sailed
from Rio, with deponent on board, the papers, as aforesaid, were deliver-
ed to the said master (Clark) in the office of the United States consul for
said city.

And the deponent further saith that he served in the capacity of mate
to said Captain Clark, the master of said ¢ Navarre,”’ up to the period of
the capture of said barque, off the town of Ambriz, on the southwest
coast of Africa, on or about the 21st day of March, 1850, by the British
war-steainer < Firefly;”’ and that he so served, so far as he was concern-
ed, in the belief that she was thus far engaged in a true and lawful com-

merce.
Ex.—-2
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But the deponent further saith that the lading of the vessel was con.
fined to water in casks, which the master said was for Dballast, and to
other articles known on the coast of Africa as farina; that there were sun-
dry Brazilians on board, who labored in the common duties of the vessel,
but who are not entered on the aforesaid shipping articles, the whieh did
excite his (the deponent’s) apprehension on the voyage that the said master
(Clark) might thereby compromise the character of his vessel, and violate
the laws of the United States passed for the prevention and suppression
of the African slave trade.

And the depounent further saith that, for the whole period included be-
tween his entry on hoard as mate, on the 27th of December, and the
capture of the barque ¢ Navarre,”’ on the 2Ist day of March, by the
¢« Firefly,”” as aforesaid, he kept the log-book of the vessel, as the true
and lawful record thereof, according to law; that the original shipping
" articles which are produced, as aforesaid, are the true articles. Further,
that he had seen the ship’s papers, and that they were the true and proper
papers, to the best of his knowledge and belief; and that the barque
¢ Navaire,”” when first boarded and held in durance by the foreign offi-
cers and men, was in all respects, and in gooa fuith, an American mer-
chaut trader of true and lawful character.

And the deponent further saith that said papers were in the hands of
the foreign officer and officers at two several times; that he knoweth not
what disposition was made of them; but that he belicves they were
destroyed by, or suffered to be destroyed in the presence of], said officers,
under threat of delivery of said ship and people to the American authori-
ties, to bertried for alleged violation of the laws of the United States, in
terms and words, to wit: ¢ Well, captain, you had better let me take
you; for if I deliver you up to the American authorities, you know hew
they will deal with you;”’ that the said master (Clark) seemed to be in-
timidated, and ordered to be hauled down the American flag; and that the
said Clark further ordered him (the deponent) to hoist a Brazilian ensign,
and the captain of the ¢¢ Firefly”’ ordered his people to take charge of the
vessel and to open the hatches; thercupon the barque was seized by the
officers of said British steauner ¢¢ Firefly,™ and the people found on board
the barque suffered to go at large.

And further the deponent saith not.
HIRAM C. RAYMON.

Sworn to and subscribed before me, the said Levin M. Powell, this Sth

day of April, 1850.
L. M. POWELL, Commander.

In presence of—
Ep. C. Dorax, Purser United Statcs Navy.

Affidavit of Charles Blanchard, seaman barque < Navarre.’*
Know all men by these presents, that, on the day of the date hereof,

personally appeared before me, E. Peck, commander in the United States
navy, Charles Blanchard, a native of Brooksfield, in the State of Maine,



i9 [ 66 ]

who, being duly sworn on the Holy Evangelist of Almighty God, did de-
pose and declare, that, on or about the 23d of December, 1849, being at
Rio Janeiro, he shipped as seaman on board the American barque ¢ Na-
varre,”’ Captain Clark; the alleged object was to proceed to the island of St.
Catharine’s, there to take in the cargo of the American ship ¢Qceanica’’
(condemned) and convey the same to California. At the time of sailing
from Rio de Janeiro, there was on board the barque seven men before the
mast, one cook and steward, captain and two mates: all hailed to be
Americans except one, and were regularly shipped by the American
consul. '

On arriving at St. Catharine’s, the captain, as deponent understood,
declined going to California, alleging the insufficiency of compensation.
Remained at St. Catharine’s some cight or ten days, and, shipping one
man and a boy, we left, as deponent understood, for the Cape de Verde
islands. 'The first land made after leaving St. Catharine’s was San Juan,
near Cape Frio, and the next day anchored in a bay called Rio Ostris.
Soon after arriving at Rio Ostris, the barque’s crew were sent on shore to
malke sails. While thus employed, a gaug of Portuguese or Brazilians
were etuployed in putting on board a number of water-casks, (thinks about
one huudred,) together with a quantity of plank, rice, beans, farina, and
jerked beef. While in Rio Ostris, several of the crew asked for their
discharge, which the captain refused. Some deserted, but were taken and
brought back. Took with us from Rio Ostris seven Portuguese or Bra-
zilians, who the captain said were passengers for the coast of Africa. One
had authority over the others, and lived in the cabin; the rest messed with
the crew. In about forty days we made the coast of Africa to the south-
ward of Benguela. Sent a boat on shore with the Portuguese captain and
two of his men; in about half an hour they returned. 'We then made sail
out to sea; next day made the land at the same place. The Portuguese
captain, two of his men, and the mate, went on shore and sounded, and
reported that there was a good anchorage; were gone about an hour; when
they returned, the barque again stood to sea. Next day, about 11 a. m.,
was boarded by a boat from her Britannic Majesty’s brig ¢ Water-Witch.”’
Before the boat rcached the barque, the Portuguese and his men se-
creted themselves in the hold. The captain and officer went into the
cabiu; heard the officer ask the captain where he was bound? He replied,
«“To Benguela.”” Officer then asked if he had any cargo on board? He
replied, ¢“Yes.”” The officer then left. Soon after this, the brig came
near us and gave us the latitude and longitude, after which we made sail
and shaped our course for Benguela, the < Water- Witch’’ remaining astern
of us; this was about 1 p. m. At 2 p. m., deponent had the watch
on deck; the brig fired a gun; the captain came up; and deponent told him
that a gun had been fired to bring them to; he said he would wait for
another; the brig then fired a shot over them, when the barque was hove-
to. T'wo boats then came alongside from the brig, The boarding officer
asked the captain where he was bound to now? Captain replied that he
did not like to stand too near the land. Deponent left the officers on board
when he went below, at 4 a. m. Deponent came on deck at halfpast
7 a. m.; the offizer had then left. The brig was in sight on our lee
quarter; kept in si~ht and astern all day. Towards evenin; the brig
passed ahead of us. Soon after this the captain hove overbpard a side-
ladder for a drag to deaden the ship’s way, so as to allow the brig to gaia



[ 66] 20

on him. About halfpast eight p. m. lost sight of the brig; then hove-to
for about half an hour; then filled away and stéered NNE. The third
day after leaving the brig, made Ambriz, and was boarded by an officer
from her Britannic Majesty’s ship ¢ Firefly.”” He went into the cabin with
the captain; when they returned on deck, the officer mustered the crew.
The officer remained on board about three-fourths of an hour, when he
left for the ¢ steamer,”” about cight or ten miles distant. Soon after this
the barque came to an anchor; in about an hour the steamer came in and
anchored near us, and sent a boat alongside. After this boat had left,
our captain left for the shore with his baggage, when he was hailed by an
English officer, who was coming on board the second time, and who told
him he would like to sce him. He then returned on heard. Did not
hear what passed between the British officer and the captain. Heard the
captain order the mate to haul down the American and hoist the Brazilian
flag. The crew proceededaft to prevent this, and deponent seized the signal
halliards, when he was struck by a British sailor, who drew a cutlass on
him, while auother presented his pistol at him. The mate then hauled
down the American flag, threw it overboard, and hoisted the Brazilian inits
stead. Heard the English commander tell the captain that he was deter-
mined to search his vessel. Does not remember whether the search was
begun before or after the American flag was struck. Had heaxd the cap-
tain tell the mate, ¢ if the worst cane to the worst, he would “aul down
the American and hoist the Bruzilian flag.””  Also heard the captain say,
that the reason he did not go into Benguela was, because the brig <“Perry”’
was there and would take him; and that he did not want to be taken by
Americans. " "ile to the southward of Benguela, the captain called the
crew, and endeavored to get a boat’s crew to put him and the mate on
shore, alleging his apprchension of falling ‘..o the hands of the ¢Perry.”’
When the British conunander took possession of the ¢Navarre,”” he oflered
to take the Americans to Loando, which he did, and put thein on board the
United States brig ¢« Perry,’” except the captain and mate, who went direct-
ly on shore, and did not go on board the ¢“Perry?’ while she remained there.
CHAS. BLANCEARD, Seamau.

Sworn to and subscribed before me, this sixteenth day of May, A. D.
one thousand eight hundred and filty.
In testimony whereunto, I have hereunto set my hand and aflixed
[ 5.] my oflicial seal, the 16th day of May, in the year of our Lord one
“ 74 thousand eight hundred aud fifty.
E. PECK,

Commander U. S. Navy.

Affidavit of Jokn Robertson, scaman barque ¢ Navarre.”

The following deposition was made on board the United States flag-ship
¢ Portsmouth,”” by John Robertson, seaman, one of the crew of the
barque ¢ Navarre,” captured on the west coast of Africa by her Britaunic
Majesty’s steamer ¢Firefly:”’

John Robertson was born in Baltiniore, Maryland. Shipped on board
the barque ¢ Nuvarie”” on the 23d day of December, 1849, in Rie de Janei-
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10, by the American consul. Sailed from Rio de Janeiro to St. Catharine’s
for the’ cargo of an American ship (condemned at that place) to go to Cali-
fornia, but could not agree as to terms, and sailed from thence to Rio
Ostris; arrived there in two or three days; after anchoring, unbent sails,
- and sent them with the crew on shore; the men of the ¢ Navarre’’
were employed on shore in making a new suit of sails. There were seat
on board the ‘¢ Navarre’® 101 casks of water, some planks, besides a
~quantity of bags and barrels of provisions. - The provisions and water
were conveyed on board by a crew of Portugunese, which joined the ves-
sel when she sailed for the coast of Africa. I, as well as others, suspected
that all was not right.. The first land we made was Little Fish or Ele-
phant bay.. We ran along down the land to a little bay, near which there
~ were several small houses. We hove-to at this place, and the captain
sent a boat on shore with the Portuguese captain and two of his men; in
-a short time the boat returned, when she was hoisted up, and we stood
off the land all that night, anc next day tacked ship and stood. in shore,
and then tacked and stood off awhile, when we tacked again and stood in
_for the shore. We were in shore about meridian; hove-to. The mate went
on shore in the bay and sounded; when he returned, he said there were
twenty fathoms of water close in shore. Filled away and stood off until
12 o’clock next day; when we made a sail; she fired a gun,and we
hove-to, and was boarded by the captain of her Britannic Majesty’s brig
¢ Water-Witch.”” Our captain said that he was out of his reckoning; the
‘captaiu of the ‘¢ Water-Witch *’ said he would go on board, and run under
‘the ¢ Navarre’s”’ stern, and give us our latitude, longitude, and course.
He (the captain) went on board, and the brig passed under the ¢ Na-
-varre’s’’ stern, and gave the latitude, longitude, and course. = We then
stood for Benguela, (this was about 2 o’clock p. m.;) the brig hove-to,
and we stood on our course for about a half hour, and then we hauled on
the wind on the starhoard tack; the brig filled away and followed after us.
She (the brig) was under top-sails and topgallant-sails until dark, when
she made sail and stood for us. Between 7and 8 p. m., we had lost
sight of the brig, and tacked ship and stood off the land. I had the
watch below from 8 to midnight. When I came on deck, the ¢ Navarre’’
was under all sail on the wind on the port tack. At 1 p. m., we tacked
ship; and at the time of tacking, a shot was fired from the windward,
and passed over us. - We then hove-to, and the brig came down across
our bow, and spoke the ¢¢ Navarre,”” and said: ¢ Captain, do you think
we are blind?”’ She then hove-to to leeward of us, and sent a boat on’
‘board with three officers. One kept the deck, while the other two went
below. I left them on board when I ¢ turned in,”’ at 4 o’clock a. m.
When all hands were calied, I camme on deck; the ¢ Navarre’’ and the
brig were under all sail, stauding in for Benguela, and continued so during
the day. At sunset, the brig was on the starboard bow. Between 7 and
8 p..1n., the captain hove a side-ladder overboard for a drag. At about
9 p. m., we hove-to, the brig on our lee quarter, distaut about three
miles. The captain said that was Benguela, (alluding to a light in sight,)
and said he would not run in. - Shoruy after, the. mate and Portuguese
captain L.ad a conversation. on the lee side of the quarter-deck; and we
'squared away and steered northward, the brig not in sight; at 8 a. m.,
lost sight of the land. We made the land'about Ambriz on the third or
‘fourth morning after having lost sight of it. At 4 o’clock, on coming on
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deck, I was informed that the Portuguese captain and two men had left
the vessel in the “jolly-boat.”” Duriug the morning watch we were
boarded by the launch of her Britannic Majesty’s steamer ¢ Firefly.’”
The officer came on board and asked the captain where he was bound;
he answered, ‘¢ To Ambriz;”’ they then went below together; came on deel:
again in about ten minutes—the officer having a list of the crew in his
hand. The officer then directed the men to come afi, and then asked each
what his name was. The captain asked him below to breakfast. e re-
mained on board until 8 o’clock, when the steaer hove in sight. During
this time, the ¢ Navarre’’ was stauding in for the anchorage of Ambriz;
the launch stood for the stemner. At about 9 o’clock we anchored at
Ambriz; the steamer camne in and sent a boat on board. I heard nothing
that passed between the captain and officer; he remained on board about
15 minutes. The boat returned to the ¢ stecamer,”’ when she stood in for &
short distance, and came to anchor on our starboard bow. After the
¢¢ steamer’s ’ boat had left us, the captain ordered the launch to be got
out, and had a bag and two boxes of cigars passed into it; he then order-
ed three men in the bhoat to pull him ashore. About this time two
lauinches came alongside from the ¢ steamer,” and our launch was
dropped astern, in order to allow room for the ¢ stearner’s”’ launches to
come alongside. Two oflticers came on board and went below with the
captain; remained on board about 15 minutes, and then returned to the
¢t stencr.””  On their lcaving, the captain of the ¢ Nuvarre ™ got in his
boat, with three of the crew, and commenced pulling ashore. The
¢ gig?’ of the steamer was lowered, and the captain of the steamer, with
two other boats, pulled for the ¢ Navarre.””  Que of the boats hailed the
captain of the ‘¢ Nuvarre,”” and said that the captain of the stewmer
wanted to speak to him, upon which he returned to the barque. The
captain and officers of the steumer got on board the ¢ Nuvarre,”” and was
soon followed by ler eaptain.  About thirty men from the steamer came
on board armed. The captain of the ¢ Nuvarre’ went below imue-
diately on coming on board. Some of the officers of the steamer were
on deck, and some below.  Inabout a half an hour after the officers came
on board from the steamer, the captain of the ¢ Navarre”’ cime up in the
companion-way, and said to the mate, ¢ Haul down the American flag, and
hoist the Brazilian;’’ as soon as we heard thar, we all rushed aft, but was
prevented from getting upon the quarter-deck by the men from the
steamer, who had received orders from their captuin not to permit us;
they ail had drawn cutlasses. Blanchard succeeded in passing by them,
and had the signal halliards in his hand.  Tle mate hauled down their
colors, and hove them overboard. 'T'he men from the steamer then went
to work to break open the hatches, commiencing at the half-deck hatch.
We saw the captain of the steamer in the starboard gungway; we told
told him that ¢ we were done out of our wages; if he wanted to take the
vessel, to take her under her own tlag, and give her up to an Ameri-
can man-of war.”’ The captain told us to keep silence, or he would
try us as pirates; he said that the captain had signued his name as a
Brazilian, and we could gain nothing, nor get nothing. We were all
transterred, ¢ bag and hainmoek,’” on board the steamer, and was carried
to St. Paul’s de Loando, and then transferred on board the United States
brig ¢ Perry.”” At all times, when the British oflicers came on board, the
Brazilians were secreted in the hold. The captain or the wmate did not,



23 [ 66 ]

to my knowledge, go on board the ¢ Perry ’ during our stay in Leando.
I was satisfied in my own mind, while on the coast, that our vessel was

intended for the slave trade.
. JOHN ROBERTSON, Seaman.

Sworn to and subscribed before me, this sixteenth day of May, A. D.
one thousand eight hundred and fifty.
In testimony whereof, T have hereunto set my hand and affixed
[L.s] ™ official seal, the 16th day of May, in the year of our Lord
* 74 one thousand eight hundred and fifty.
: E. PECK,

Comnmander United States Navy.

Affidavit of John Fuster, steward of the barque < Navarre.”’

Know all men by these presents, that, on the day of the date hereof,
personally appeared before me, E. Peck, commander in the United Siates
navy, John Foster, a native of Genesce county, in the State of New
York, who, being duly sworn on the Holy Evangelist of Almighty God,
did depnse and declare, that on or about the 23d of December, 1849, be-
ing at Rio de Janeiro, he shipped as steward on bhoard the American
barque ¢ Navarre,”” Captain Clark. The alleged object was to proceed to
the island of St. Catharine’s, there to 1ake in the cargo of the America:
ship ¢¢ Oceana,’ and convey the same to California. At thetime  sailing
fromn Rio de Janciro, there was on board the barque seven men before the
mast, one cook and steward, captain, and two mates: all hailed to be
Auwericans except one, and were regularly entered before the American
consul. On arriving at St. Catharine’s, the captain said he would not go
to California, the freight oflered him not being sufficient. Remained at
Bt. Catharine’s about two weeks; then left, ostensibly for the purpose of
proceeding to the Cape de Verde islands. The first land made, after
leaving St. Catharine’s, was Cape Frio, on the coast of Brazil; the same
evening we anchored in a bay called Rio Ostris. Soon after arriving, the
crew of the barque went on shore to make a suit of sails; in the mean-
while, a gang of Portuguese or Brazilians put on board a large number of
water-casks, tngether with a quantity of planks, beans. rice, and farina,
and a launch-lead of jerked beef. While at Rio Ostris, the crew desired
to be discharged, which the captain positively refused to grant. Some de-
serted, but were brought back by the police of the country. The day
before sailing from Rio Ostris, seven Brazilians or Portuguese camme on
bourd, who the captain said were passengers for the coast of Africa. One
of tliemn had authority over the others, and lived in the cabin; the bal-
ance messed with the crew. Does not remember the day of sailing from
Rio Ostris. Had about forty days’ passage to the coast of Africa; made
the land to the southward of Beunguela, and sent a boat on shore with the
Portuguese captain and several of his men; they remained on shore but a
few minutes; when they returned, made sail, and stood out to sea; next
day returned to same place, when the mate went ashore with a lead line,
and sounded; he reported a good anchorage; again stood out to sea.
That day, about 11 a. m., was boarded by a boat frum her British Ma-
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jesty’s brig < Water-Witch.”” When the boat came alongside, we dis-
played our American colors. The oflicer asked the captain where he was
from; he answered, ¢Brazil.”’ He asked him where he was bound; he re-
plied, ¢« To Bengucla.”” The captain and officerthen went into the cabin
and drank sowe porter.  Before the boat from the ¢¢ Water- Witch’’ reached
the ¢ Navarre,”’ the Portuguese captain and his crew concealed them-
selves in the hold, and remained there until the boat had left. The
ofticer asked the captain to show him the vessel’s papers, which he did,
and ordered the crew aft, when the officer called their names from the
crew list, The officer ther wld the captain that the United States hrig
« P 3" was at Benguel i, and, as he was going there himself, he would
accor :pauy bim. The oflicer thet left the vessel, and the ¢ Navarre’
filled away; the ¢ Water-Witeh”' continued lIying-to.  Soon after this
the captain called the crew aft, and told them that if the ¢ Perry’’ was
in Benguela he would be taken prisoner, aud proposed that they should
all go on shore, at the sawe time oflering to secure their wages and pro-
vide for them while on the coast.  T'he crew objected.  He ther: proposed
that himself and mate should be put on shore, and that he would give
the ship’s papers to the second mate to do with as he pleased. The crew
objected to this, and were desirous to fall in with the ¢ Perry.””  De-
ponent, having no wateh, knows nothing from personal observation of
what passed during the night.  When he came on deck in the morning,
the ¢ Water-Witch™ wus 1n sight a long distance ahead.  Soon after
dark, lost sight of the ¢ Water-Wit:h,”” when the captain altered his
course from Benguela.  T'hinks the third day, in the morni g, after pass-
ing Benguela, they were off Awbriz, and were boarded by a boat from
Ler Britannic Majesty’s steamner ¢ Firetly.””  Before the boat reached the
barque, the Portuguese captain and crew concealed themselves in th.e hold,
as before. The cuptain invited the officer iuto the cabin, where they
drank wine and breukfasted together.  The oflicer asked to see the ship’s
papers, which the captain gave him, and then ordered the crew sent aft,
when the officer called their names.  Officer then left for the steamer,
about eight or ten miles distant, and the ¢ Navarre’’ came to anchor soon
after off Ambriz. 'n a short tiine the steamer came in, when another boat
came alongside with two officers; they had some intercourse "with the
captain, which the deponent did not hear, and then left.  After they had
gone, the captain started for the shore with his baggage.  On his way he
was hailed by the connuander of the stewner, who t 'd hilm he was going
on board the barque, and desired to see him. The captain returned; him-
self and the counnauder of the steamer went into the cabin.  Deponent
wus at the galley, and kuows nothing of what passed in the eabin. In a
short time hie saw the mate come ou deck with the Drazilian colors  He
commenced hauling down the American eolors, when the crew came aft
to prevent the lowering of their tlag; when they were stopped by the
British sailors, who were armed with pistols and cutlasses.  Oune man,
(Charles Blanchard,) who had seized hold of the signul-halliards, was
struck on the back of the head by one of the kuglish sailors, while
others raised their cutlasses against him.  The we ¢ then hauled down
the American flag, threw it overbeard, and hoisted 10 Brazilian colors
in its stead.. T'he Portuguese captain and crew were landed at Awmbriz;
the Americans were carried to Loande, where they found the United
States brig ¢ Perry,”” and the crew went on board of her; the captain
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and mate did not. The captain left the steamer by the first opportunity,
the mate left while the ¢ Perry’s’’ hoat was alongside. Neither captain or
mate went on hoard the «“Perry’’ while she remained at Loando. Deponent
has no don't the object of the captain and owners of the ¢ Navarre’’ was
to employ L., in the slave trade.

JOHN FOSTER, Steward.

Sworn and subscribed before me, this sixteenth day of May, A. D.
one thousand cight hundred and fifty.
In testimony whereof, I have hereunto 2t my hand and affixed
[L.s.] my official scal, the 16th day of May, in the year of our Lord
one thousand eight hundred and fifty.
E. PECK,

Commander U. S. Nuvy

Her Britaxyic Masgesty’s stEaM-smp ¢ Cycrops,”’
O Awmbriz, soutlacest coast of Africa, April 9, 1850,

St T have the honor to acknowledge the receipt of your letter of the
Sih instant, with the evelosures A, B, and C.

The statement marked B being an allidavit of the mate of the Ameri-
can brigantine ¢ Louisa Beaton,” certified by the master, with reference
to the illegal search made by an officer of her Britannic Majesty’s sloop
“PFlying Fizh,” on boarding the ¢ Louisa Beaton,”’ off Kabenda, on
the 28th of March last, as I expect the daily arrival of the ¢ Flying
Fish,” 1 would desire to wait the commander’s arrival before replying to
the mate’s aflidavit, and will call upon the commander for his report of
the circumstances attending the boarding of the ¢ Louisa Beaton.”” and
trust that 1 may be enabled to give you a satisfactory explanation.

The aflidavit marked C, of Hiram C. Raymon, late mate of the Bra-
zilian barque ¢ Nava-re”’—1I regret that the departure of her Britannic
Majesty’s stzam-sloop ¢ Firefly” for England will prevent me from
calling upon the e 1mander for an immediate explanation of the circum-
statices; but I wiu transmit the document to the British commander-in-
chief, who, I have no doubt, wili take the necessary steps for the arrange-
ment of this matter; but I would respectfully request that the party coin-
plaining, as well as the late master cf the ¢ Navarre,”’ who is stated to be
at present at “‘ Loando,”” might be forthcoming to prove the assertions
made in the affidavit. It does appear extraordinary, that the party who
made the affidavit, on being conveyed to Loando in the ¢¢ Firefly,’”” after
the capture of the ¢¢ Navarre,”” and there mecting with, and, as I heard,
being transferred to, the U. 8. brig <“Perry,” did not, whilst the commander
of the ¢ Firefly”” was present, malke this affidavit to the commander of the
“Perry,” inorder that the truth might be elicited then and there, aud
inquiry made into the whole of the circumstances attending the capture of
that vessel; and 1 therefore much doubt the truth of the mate’s statement,
until further proof. I observe throughout the affidavit that the mate
makes no mention of any American citizen being the owner of the ¢ Na-
vane,” nor, on the occasion of her cupture, her being fully equipped
for the slave trad-. '

With reference to the complaint made by Captain Stodder, of the
American barque ¢¢ Catharine,’” to Licutenant Pegram, of the ¢ John
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Adams,” relative in the first place to the supposed conduct of the com-
“mander of her Britannic Majesty’s steam-sloop ¢ Firefly,” on board
the barque “ Navarre,”” off Awnbriz, I beg to state, that, at the period of the
¢ Navarre’s’ capture by that sloop, the ¢ Catharine’’ was-at anchor in
Loando; therefore, Captain Stodder’s statement can only have been made
from hearsay of that oflicer’s proceedings on the occasion in question.
Secondly, from the constant changing of the nationality of vessels on this
coast, it became absolutely necessary for us to visit every vessel that was
sighted, and on all occasions. I hove no recollection of any shot having
been fired by any of the cruisers at the ¢¢ Catharine,’’ except once, when
a blank cartridge was fired from a musket, on the ¢ Cyclops’ ’ first visit-
ing the said barque at night, not having seen her before, when the master
would not heave-to, with a fresh breeze, and he was then exceedingly
uncivil to the boarding oflicer. I have frequently met the ¢ Catharine”
since, and never boarded her.

With respect to the complaint from Captain Stodder against the ¢¢ Cen-
taur’s’’ burge, I am fortunately acquainted with the whole circumstanees,
and will therefore relate thew for your information: The ¢ Centaur’s”
barge cruising off Mazula, between the hours of 7 and 10 p. m.—
I am not certain as to the correct time, but it was after dark—a vessel was
observed by the officer in charge of the barge, ruuning along the land.
Chase was given, and, although the vessel must have observed the boat,
every means scemed to be used to evade the visit. After some pulling, a
blank cartridge was fired from the 6-pounder brass gun in the bows;
the vessel took no notice of the same: and, afier a little timne, a rocket; but
the officer declared to me that it wus pointed quite clear of the masts and
sails. This had the desired effect. T'he barque hove-to, and, on board-
ing, the officer learned that the vessel was the American barque ¢ Catha-
rine,” from Loando. 'The captain was exceedingly uncivil; and, on
the officer’s observing that he might have allowed his boat to come along-
side before, and not used means to prevent her, the captain replied that he
never hove-to for a launch; and the mate, who was present, observed that
whoever stated that means were used to prevent the boat reaching the
barque was a ¢ blondy liar.”” 'These are the facts of the case; and, on
Commedore Fanshawe's learning the occurrence, he requested me to
mention the matter to the commander of the ¢ Perry.”” The ¢ Catha-
rine’’ met the United States man-of-war, off Ambriz, the day after the
¢t Centaur’s’’ barge boarded her; but I did not learn that any complaint
had been preferred by Captain Stodder on the subject previous to your
letter, although the ¢ Centaur’’ was at anchor in the roadstead of Am-
briz whilst the ¢ Catharine’” and ¢ Perry’’ were together there.

The officer in charge of the ¢ Centaur’s’’ boat had never met or
boarded the ¢ Catnarine’’ before, and was not aware, until he reached
her deck, that she was an American vessel.

I trust these explanations, until other letters can be forwarded to you,
will be satisfactory.

1 have the honor to be, sir, your obedient servant,

GEO. F. HASTINGS,
Captain in her Britannic Majesty’s Nuvy.
Leviy M. Powrrr, Fsq.,
Connander in the United States Navy, com’g
the U. S.ship < John Adams,”’ senior officer of
the U. 8. naval forces south of the equator, Ambriz.
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U. S. su1p ““ Joun Apams,’”’
_ Of Ambriz, April 9, 1850,
Sir: I enclose for your perusal a letter from Captain the Hon. George
F. Hustings, of her Britaunic Mijesty’s steam-ship ¢¢ Cyclops,”” and se-
nior officer of the southern division ot the British squadron on this coast,
wherein you are mentioned in conuexion with the explanations given
relative to the several captures and boarding operations conducted by her
Britaunic Majesty’s cruisers.
Be pleased to give me your report of the same, for the information of the
commander-in-chief of our furces in this quarter.
Very respectfully, your obedient servant,
. L. M. POWELL,
Commander and senior officer.
Lieut. Com’g Axnprew H. Foote,
Commanding U. S. brig ‘¢ Perry.”’

Be pleased to return the papers at an early moment.
L. M. P.

U. S. Bric “ Pernry,”
Of Awmbriz, April 10, 1850,

Sir: Your letter of the 9th instant, enclosing a communication addressed
to you from the Honorable Captain Hastings, of her Britannic Majesty’s
steamer ¢¢ Cyclops,”” wherein I am mentioned in counexion with the
¢ Navarre’” and the ¢ Catharine,”” with your directions to report on the
same, has been received.

In relation to the ¢ Navarre,”” her captain and mate went on shore on
the arrival of her Majesty’s steamer ¢¢ Firefly”” at Loando, and did not,
at any time, come on board the ¢ Perry,”” although I requested Captain
Stodder, of the barque ¢¢ Catharine,” to inform the captain of the
¢ Navarre’’ that, if he had any complaint to make, if he would come on
board, I would atteud to it while the ¢ Firefly’’ was present. There
were six American seamen on board of the ¢ Navarre’’ when captured,
whom I received on board of this vessel, at their request, as they stated
that cthey had been deceived as to the chject of their voyage, and wished
to be conveyed to Commodore Gregory, commanding the station; but, on
reconsideration, they applied to go on shore, and, having no evidence o
any breach of the laws of thie United States which would authorize their
detention, five of them were permitted to leave the vessel, and the re-
maining one was, at his-own request, yesterday sent on board of the
¢ John Adams,”” under your command.

In relation to the ¢ Centaur’s’” launch boarding the ¢¢ Catharine,’’ no
complaint was preferred to me by Captain Stodder, her commander.
Being under way on the arrival of the ¢ Catharine’ at Ambriz, I had
no communication with her, except to send the letter-bag on board by my
clerl, who, on his return, reported that Captain Stodder, or the mate, had
sportively remarked that the ¢¢ Cyclops’ had again fired at him, and,
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when the boat came alongside, he had told the officer to tell his captain
¢ that he had better keep his potatoes to himself.”’
I an, sir, very respectfully, your obedient servant,
ANDREW H. FOOTE,
Licutenant Commanding.
Commander Leviny M. PowrLr,
Commanding U. 8. sloop ¢ John Adams.”

Uxrrep STATES smip ““ Joun Apams,”’
OF Ambriz, southwest coast of Africa, April 10, 1850.

Sir: Herewith I have the honor to enclose for your information a report
made by Lieutenant Commanding Andrew H. Foote, of the United States
brig ¢ Perry,’’ touching the matters ivhich refer to him contained in your
letter of the 9th instant, addressed to me.

I do this with the more pleasure, inasmuch as it strengthens the force
of the explanation so promptly rendered by you on the subject of com-
plaint submitted to your consideration by me, and as a manifestation of
my sincere desire to arrive at tnth, without pausing to consider whose
interests may be affected. Sheuld any testimony of a more favorable na-
ture, bearing upon the questions lately mooted, full into my hands, be
assured that it will afford me real pleasure to be able to convey the inforin-
ation to you. ,

I take the occasion to make a more formal acknowledgment of the re-
ceipt of your letter of the Sth, and at the same time of yours dated the
9th April, 1850, and te express to you my sense of the honest and friendly
manner in whick you have met my call for information.

Perhaps I should also have replied more definitely to the question put
in our several conferences, to wit: What are her Britannic Majesty’s offi-
cers to do, if, in the effort io effect the common object specified in the 8th
article of the treaty of Washington, they cannet look behind the flag and
p]{ipel:?s of a vessel claiming to be American, in order to verify her nation-
ality?

lyam at liberty to give but one answer, and that admits of no mistake.
The United Stutes recognise no right of ¢« visit” or ““secarch’’ of vessels
wearing the flag of the United States, for any purpose, by a foreign officer,
on the high seas. Wheuever this right is disregarded, and the visit made,
and the search conducted, it is at the peril and on the responsibility of the
party acting.

Pardon 1ne, sir, for this short rejoinder to your arguments: it struck me
as being due to frankness. And believe, sir, that 1 am, with high con-
sideration, your obedieut servant,

L. M. POWELL,

Commander U. S. N.
Captain Hon. Georae F. HasTiNGs,
- H. B. M. steaunship < Cyclops,” and senior officer
of swuthern division of lLer Britannic Majesty’s forces,
southawest coast of Africa.
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Her Briranvic Masesty’s sTEAM-suIP ¢ CycLops,”’
Off Ambriz, southwest coast of Africa, April 11, 1850,

Sir: I have the honor to acknowledge the receipt of your letter of the
10th instant, with an enclosure from Lieutenant Andrew H. Foote, com-
manding the United States brig of war ¢ Perry;’’ and it affords me ex-
treme pleasure to observe that the explanations which I tendered you in
my letter of the 9ih instant have been strengthened by that officer’s
report.

But, with reference to the latter part of Lieutenant Foote’s letter, in
which he states that Captain Stodder, of the American barque ¢ Catha-
rine,’’ sportively remarked ¢ that the ¢ Cyclops’ had again fired a¢ him,
and, when the boat came alongside, he told the officer to tell the captain
that he had better keep his potatoes to himself,”” I would observe that
Captain Stodder has made a false accusation relative to our proceedings.
The ¢ Cyclops’’ did not sight the ¢ Catharine”” on the passage from
Loando to Ambriz, where she met the ¢ Perry;’’ and you will remember
that, on Lieutenant Pegram, of the ¢“John Adams,”” boardiug the ¢¢ Cath-
arine,’’ two days afterwards, no complaint was made by the captain against
the ¢¢ Cyclops,’” but one relating to the ¢ Centaur’s’” barge. I therefore
deny, most emphatically, ever having fired at the ¢ Catharine,”’ except
on one occasion, three months sinuce, when she first came to the coast, at
night, with a fresh brecze blowing, for the purpose of bringing her to—
never having seen her before; and then, a blank musket-cartridge was
fired to windward.

With regard to the latter part of your letter, in which you state it as
your opinion ¢that foreign officers have no right to look behind the flag
and papers of a vessel claiming to be Awmerican, in order to verify her na-
tionality; and also that the United States will not recognise the right of
visit or search of vessels wearing the flag of the United States, for any
purpose, by any foreign officer, on the high seas,” I would answer, that
I am perfectly aware that the treaty of Washiugton gives no right to our
officers to visit or search an American vessel; but the government of the
United States are far from claiming that the flag of the Union should give
immunity to those who have no right to wear it; and in my nstructions
I am acquainted that most assuredly Great Britain never will allow vessels
of other natious to escape visit and examination by merely hoisting an
United States tlag, or the flag of any other nation which has not granted
to Great Britain the right of search.

On the coast, it is extremely difficult to ascertain, without visit, the na-
tionality of a vessel; for to-day you pass a vessel displaying the American
flag, and in your opinion a lawful trader, but to-morrow the same vessel,
when met, (having embarled a cargo of negroes in.the interval,) preseuts
another nationality. Many Brazilian vessels have attempted to evade
capture, whilst chased by a British cruiser, by hoisting the American flag,
but, on observing no hope of escape, have displayed tl.eir true nation-
ality. -
l}xrx conclusion, I take the liberty of transmitting for your information an
extract from the instructions under which I am acting, in the event of our
meeting vessels who, from intelligence I may have received, or from their
manceuvres, or other sufficient cause, I may have reason to believe, do
not belong to the nation indicated by their colors. To those instructions
I have implicitly (as well as every one of my brother officers, in our inter-
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course with, or visit to, foreign vessels, whose nations do not give the right
of search to Great Britain) attended; and it is our duty, until receiving
further instructions, to be guided by those commands on all future occa-
sions.

In the event of an United States cruiser being in company, and joining
with our cruiser in the chase of asuspected vessel, who may, on our pur-
suing her, display the flag of the Union, hut afterwards hoist the Brazilian
eolors, it will be my desire, as well as duty, to give way to the American
cruiser in paying the first visit to the suspected vessel; but you will, of
course, bear in mind that the United States have no treaty with Brazil
granting the right of search. You cannot, therefore, visit or search a
Brazilian vessel, the American flag having been only used by the ¢“chase”
to evade pursuit of the British cruiser.

I have the honor to be, sir, your obedient servant,
GEO. F. HASTINGS,
Captain in her Britannic Majesty’s Navy.
Levin M. Powerr, Fisq.,
Com'’r U. 8. Navy, cont’z U, S. ship of war < John Adams,”
senior officer i conanand of the United States naval forces
south of the equator.

A true extract from the iustructions for the seuior oficer of her Majesty’s
ships and vessels on the west corsd of Africa, with respect to the treaty
with the United States of Awmnerica signed at VWashington on the 9th Au-
gust, 1842,

Accordingly, when, from intelligence which the officer commanding her
Majesty’s cruiser may have received, or from the mana:uvres of the vessel,
or other suilicient cause, he may have reason to helieve thatthe vessel does
not belong to the nation indicated by her colors, he is, if the state of the
weather will admit of it, to go ahead of the suspected vessel, after com-
municating his intentions by hailing, and to drop a boat on board of her, to
ascertain her nationality, without causing her detention, in the event of her
really proving to be a vessel of the nation the colors of which she has dis-
played, and, therefore, one which he is not authorized to search; but,
should the strength of the wind or other circumstances render such mode
of visiting the stranger impracticable, he is to require the suspected vessel
to he brought to, in order that the nationality may be ascertained, and he
will be justified in euforcing it, if necessary —understanding always that
he is not to resort to any coercive measures until every other shall have
farled.  And the oflicer who boards the stranger is to be Instructed merely,
in the firstinstance, to satisfy himself by the vessel’s papers, or other proof,
of her nationality; and if she prove really to be a vessel of the nation
designated by her eolors; and one which he is not authorized to search,
he is to lose no time in quitting her—offering to note on the papers ot the
vessel the cause of his having suspected her nationality, ns well as the
number of miuutes the vessel was Jctuiued (if detained at all) for the ob-
jeet in question.  Such notation is to be signed by the boarding officer,
specifying his rank, and the name of her Majesty’s cruiser; and, whether
t{w comrmander of the visited vessel consents 1o such notation on the ves-
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sel's papers or not, (and it is not to be done without his consent,) all the
said particulars are to be immediately inserted in the log-book of her
Majesty’s cruiser, and a full and a complete statement of the circumstances
is to be sent, addressed to the Secretary of the Admiralty, by the first safe
opportunity, direct to England, and also a similar statement to you, as
senior officer on the station, to be forwarded by you to our secretary, ac-
companied by any remarks you may have reason to make thereon.

Of course. in cases where the suspicion of the commander turns out to
be well-founded, and the vessel hoarded proves, notwithstanding her
colors, not to belong to the nation designated by those colors, the com-
mander of her Majesty’s cruiser will deal with her as he would have been
authorized and required to do had she not hoisted a false flag.

Gro. . HasTings,

Captain of her Britannic Majesty’s ship ¢ Cyclops.”’

Unrrep Stares siie ¢“ Jouny Apams,”
Port of Loando, April 16, 1850,

Personally appeared before me, L. M. Powell, commander in the United
States navy, in command of said ¢ John Adums,”’ on this 16th day of
April, 1850, Robert J. Clark, who, being duly sworn, deposeth and saith:

That he was horn in the State of Massachusetts, und follows the sea;
that he was master of the American barque ¢ Navarre,”” of Philadelphia;
that, being in Rio de Janeiro, after having sold his former vessel, of which
he was also master and part owner, with the proceeds of suid sale, did,
an or about the 29th day of December, 1849, purchase from Maxwell
Wright & Co., American merchants, residents in said port of Riode Janei-
10, the American barque ¢ Navarre,”’ together with her tackle, apparel,
and equipment, complete. That on said sale the register of said barque
was duly delivered to the American consul, and one-falf thereof wus re-
tained in said consul’s hands, and the other half forwarded to the United
States, us is customary, and bill of sule, and sea-letters, duly authenticated
by the seal and signature of the United States consul, delivered to depo-
nent, in licu of the register at the oflice of the said consul.

And further, the deponent saith, that a proper crew was shipped hy the
consul for serviee in said barque, on the terms and conditions set forth in
the shipping articles now produced, and certified, the 29th day of December,
1849, and sealed with the consular seal.

And further, that he cleared for St. Catharine’s, in Brazil, as set forth,
ind sailed from Rio, and reached said portof St. Catharine’s, with a view
tn take on freight the cargo of the ship ¢ Oceanus;’” which negotiation
fuiling, be (the deponent) saith that he cleared for the Cape de Verde
islands—-as per clearance produced—and that he touched on several ports,
ty wit: Benguelaand Ambriz, on the coast of Africa, with the hope and
intent of making u favorable sale of said barque; failing in which, it was
his design to prosceute his voyage to the Cape de Verdes, and take in a
cargo of salt, either for the United States or Brazil,

And the deponent further saith, that, on the 14th day of March, 1850,
heing then off the coast of Benguela, in Africa, eighty miles at sea, ha
wits boarded by her Britannie Majesty’s brig < Water. Witeh?'—for which
he voluntarily hove-to for some two hours; thut the boarding oflicer caro-
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fully examined the papers of said barque; and at 11 a. m. the two vessels
parted. The deponent then steered for the port of Benguela all the suc-
ceeding night, and stood off shore toward morning to wait for daylight,
when the deponent was aroused by the report of a great gun; aud shortly
after the noise of a shot passing close ahead, fired from a second gun,
caused the deponent 1o heave-to. I'he same man-of-war brig then came
up and sent a party, in three boats, under the first lieutenant of said brig
¢ Water-Witch,” who took charge of the vessel as soon as they came on
board, taking the wheel, &c. The papers of the said barque were again
examined—a midshipman was left in charge on deck, two of the boarding
boats were sent back to the ¢ Water Witch,”’ and the barque remained
in possession of the boarding party, as aforesaid, from about half-past 2
a. m. of the 15th to 10 a. m. of the same day. The commander of
said brig—named Guim, or some name like it—came on bourd at 9 or 9}
a. m., and then gave the vessel up, with a promise that he wonld keep
within gun-shot until he put me (the deponent) under the «Perry’s’”’ guns,
thien supposed to be lying in the port of Benguela.  'To all which the de-
ponent replied, that is all that he (deponeut) wanted, if he persisted in
detaining him,

And the deponent further saith, that he sailed thence for Ambriz, or the
Congo, and that he arrived near Ambriz, fifieen miles south thereof, on
the morning of the 19th of March, when, about 8 of the clock in the fore-
noon, the ¢ Navarre’’ was boarded by the launch of the steamer ¢ Flire-
fly,”’ which boat was commanded by a Mr. Dewnnard, who remained on
board, with the people of the boat, until the ¢ Pirefly’” was hull up—say
11 of the clock a. m. The said oflicer of the launch closely examined
the papers of the said barque.

About halfpast 22 p. m. of the same day, 19th March, the deponent
anchored at Ambriz; when he (the deponent) was forthwith boarded by
another boat, under the first lieutenant, who required the crew of the
¢¢ Navarre”’ to be sent from their duty on the yards (furling sails) to the
deck, and they were mustered a second time that day by a second officer.
The papers were again examined by said lieutenant, after which be re-
turned on board the British steamer ¢¢ Firefly.”’

And here the deponent further saith, that the crew of the British

steamer ¢ Firefly”” was mustered. and the meditated capture made known
to them by her officers, aud the risk thercof; and the proposal was made,
and an understanding had mutually, that, in the event of the cupture be-
ing an unlawful one, all the parties on board the British steumer would
agree to share the damages in the same proportion that each would have
shared in her if alawlul prize—not of his own knowledge, but as he
hea:-d from the first and second lieutenants of said British stcamer ¢“Fire-
fly.”
And the deponent furtlier saith, that, being harassed with the investi-
gation so ofteu repeated, and anxious to go on share on his (deponen.’s)
business, that he got into his boat for the purpose, and he proceeded some
distance, when he was overhauled by a boat of the ¢¢ Firefly,”” with her
commander in her, and taken back to his vessel, the ¢ Navarre;’’ and
thereupon the said commander of ¢‘Firefly’’ examined his papers, being the
fourth time during the period of four hours’ detention that said papers
had been demanded and examined.

And the deponent saith, that he believes he finally condemned the
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papers, as follows, by the persuasion of his officers, which he, the said.
commander, announced by saying to deponcut that the papers were false,
and the deponent a prisoner, ordering the lieutenant to take charge of
the vessel. The United States flag was then flying, and was not hauled
down for twenty-five minutes afterwards, wheu the deponent ordered his
mate to haul down the American colors, notifying the British officers
that he threw the vessel on their hands, and that he would make his pro-
test before competent authority of the illegal capture of his vessel.

The deponent further saith, that the boarding party had previously
looked into the main hold, by forcing the communicating door with the
between-decks, and were lifting the main hatches, when he (deponent)
abandoned the vessel ou their hauds.

And the deponent further saith, that the papers of said barque ¢¢Na-
varre’’ were true and lawful papers; tirat all the said papers would now be
produced, but for the destruction of the sea letter, bill of sale, and crew
list, by the tearing up of the same in presence of deponent by the officer
who became prize master, and who threw, with his own hand, the frag-
ments thereof out of the cabin window of said barque ¢ Navarre.”’

Aund the deponent further saith, that he was in no manner a party to
the hoisting of the Brazilian flag on hoard the barque ¢ Navarre;’’ that it
was done after the deponent had ahandoned the vessel to the captors,
under his aforesaid verbal protest, and whilst deponent was in her cabin,
endeavoring to save his papers and property.

And further solemnly declares, that he (the deponent) never again had
the above-recited lost papers in his possession, after said papers had
passed into the hands of the commander of the British steamer-of war
the ¢ Firefly.”

And further the deponent saith not.

ROBERT J. CLARK.

Sworn to and subscribed before me, the said L. M. Powell, this
sixteenth day of April, 1850.

L. M. POWELL,
Comanander United States Navy.
In presence of—
Hexry L. BAINBRIDGE.

Jaxvany 10, 1850.

The barque ¢ Pilot,”” stated to be an American, was boarded this day by
H. B. M. steam-vessel ¢ Pluto,”” Licutenant Jolliffe, who, on going on board
the ¢ Cyclops,” reported to me that he doubted the nationality of the
¢t Pilot.”” On the “ Pilot ” anchoring at Ambriz, I proceeded, in company
with Lieutenant Dew, of the ¢ Cyclops,”” and, on seeing the master, he
stated that the ¢ Pilot” had been sold at Rio, and that after the sale he
(Myers) was appointed master by the new owner. He produced the old
register, previous to sale, but no sea-letter or permission from the United
States consul to trade under the present ownership. Doubting, therefore,
the ¢ Pilot’s ”” nationality, and having a similar case with respect to the
brigantine ¢“Casco,”” lately captured and condemned at St. Helena, I pro-
ceeded to examine the crew, and found one or two Americans—the re-
mainder Braziliansé; and, further, on looking into the hold, I found the

Ex.—
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¢ Pilot*’ had no cargo on board, but a slave-deck laid, water and farina
on board, and perfect equipment for the shipment of slaves. Therefore, ¥
am fully convinced that the American flag, now at the mizzen or peak,
she is not entitled to; and, in consequence of the suspicion of her nation-
ality, detained her, either for the purpose of handing over to the first
American ship-of-war I may fall in with, or to send her for adjudication.
G. F. HASTINGS,
Coptain commanding H. B. M. steamer ¢ Cyclops,”’
and senior officer of Southern Division.
Witness: R. DeEw,
Licutenant R. N.

UxtTED STATES BRIG “‘ PERRY,’’
Off Ambriz, March 25, 1850.

L]

Sir: Will you do me the favor to give me a detailed account of the
circumstances attending the capture of the barque ¢“ Navarre ’’ by her
Majesty’s steamer ¢ Firefly 7’

1 ask for the information as the ¢ Navarre’’ was boarded when under
American colors, although displaying Brazilian colors when captured.

I have the honor to be, sir, respectfully,
ANDREW H. FOOTE.
Commander Joun Tunor,
Com’g H. B. M. stcamer < Firefly.”’

H.B. M. steamMer ¢ FmerLy,”’
OfF Ambriz, March 26, 1850.

Sir: In reply to your letter of the 25th instant, I beg to inform you that
the slave barque seized under Brazilian flag, 19th instant, had flying, dt
the time she was boarded, an American eusign. The boarding officer
having doubts of her nationality, in consequence of her pagers not appear-
ing to be regular, I, although severely ill of diarrbeaea at the time, consid-
ered it my duty to go on board; when, being convinced that her papers
were false, I informed the person calling himself master of her that it was
my duty to send him to the American squadron, or, in the event of not
falling in with them, to New York. He said he hoped I would not do so.
I told him I had no alternative. He immediately went upon deck and
ordered the American ensign to be hauled down, to throw it overboard,
and to hoist their proper colors, The American ensign was hauled down
and thrown overboard by the mate, who immediately hoisted the Brazilian
ensign. A man now came on deck from below, saying ¢ I am the captain
of this vessel: she is Brazilian property, and fully fitted for the slave
trade’’—which the person who first appeared acknowledged, stating that he
was himself a Brazilian subject. Having obtained this from them in
writing—the person who first called himself captain having sigued it as
‘¢Antonio Jose Famia’’—and having had the signing of the document
witnessed by two efficers of the ‘ Firefly,”” I now opened her hatches,
found all the Brazilian crew below, slave-deck laid, water filled, provisions
for the slaves, and slave shackles.
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The Americans on board expressed a wish not to be landed at Ambriz.
I asked them if they wished to be given np to an American man of-war;
if so, I would take them.on board the ¢ Firefly.”” They said they would;
that when they left Rio they were not aware they had shipped for a slaving
voyage, and did not know it until she regularly fitted as a slaver at St.
Catharine’s. I took them on board, and delivered them up to you at St.
Paul de Loando.

I have the honor to be, sir, your obedient humble servant,

JOHN TUDOR, Commander.
Captain Foore,
U. 8. sloop-of-war <¢Perry.”

Her MasesTY’s sTEAMER ‘¢ FIREFLY,”’
Loando, March 21, 1850,

Sm: I beg to forward you the information you requested, relative to
vessels that have been boarded by the ¢ Firefly,”” or her boats, upon her
station off the ¢¢ Congo,’’ under the American flag. All of these vessels
have taken slaves from some part of the coast or other, and, with the ex-
ception of the ‘“ Lucy Ann,”’ taken by her Majesty’s ship ¢ Rattler,”’
with five hundred and upwards on board, have escaped, although each
of thein has been boarded by most of the cruisers on the station previous
to shipping; but, not having the right of search, upon overhauling their
papers, and to the best of our judgment not being able to detect any inac-
curacies in such papers, our duty with the American flag ended. These
are vessels that have been boarded by myself or boats; but the senior
officer of the division (the Hon. Captain Hastings) can give you a list of
many more, all of which would have been good prizes to any American
man-of-war or officer having the right of search, for we are well assured
that all of them came over to this coast fully fitted and equipped for the
slave trade.

From the sentiments you expressed when I had the pleasure of see-
ing you, last night, relative to the determination of your government not
to allow the flag of the States to be made use of as a cover to carry on
this inhuman traffic, I regret much that the pleasure of making your ac-
quaintance has only fallen to my lot at a moment when the time of my
service on this western coast of Africa has expired; but feel satisfied that
not only on the part of the senior officer of the division, (the Hon. Captain
Hastings,) but also of my brother officers still rewmnaining on service on
the coast, you will meet the most cordial co-operation in the suppression
of the slave trade.

I sail to-morrow on my way towards England, and shall be most hap-
py to take charge of any letters or despatches you may wish to send.

I send you a gun for your boat-service, which, as it is my own private
property, I beg you to accept; and with every wish for your success, I
have the honor to be, sir, yorr most obedient and humble servant,

JOHN TUDOR,
' Commander.

To Captain FooTk,

United States sloop-of-war ¢ Perry.”’
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Names of ves- Rig. Where boarded.| Where be- | Where from. | Where bound.
sels, longing.

Meteor........{ Brig...... ‘ River Congo, .| Paltimore..| Rio de Janeiro..| River Congo.

R.de Zaldo....| Brigeevovefonnn. 404« evns| [Bourded by the boats.]

Chester........| Burque.....l.eeiidooee ool New York .| Victoria. ., ...} River Congo.

Chatsworth, ...| Brigantine..|......do......] Baltimore..| Bohin.......... 0.

Lucy Aun. ... Brig. ....if..t. dosvssss| Boston.....| Rio de Janeiro.. Do.

Barque ‘¢ Adelaide,” 248, S. S. Gamage, master—entered August 18,
1848; sailed September 12, 1848,

Barque ¢ La Grange,’" 159, August Levett, master—entercd September
8, 1848; sailed October 24, 1848.

Hermaphrodite brig ¢ Bridgeton,’” 144, Buckley, master—enteredSep-
tember 27, 1848; sailed October 1, 1848,

Barque ¢ Ennomus,”” 240, Appleton, master—entered December 23,
1848; sailed December 31, 1818,

Brig ¢ Harriet,”’ 228, T'. Dulins, master—entered January 2, 1819;
sailed January 11, 1819,

Brig ¢ Albertine,”” 203, Montgomery, master—entered Javuary 13,
1819; sailed Jauwvary 21, 1819,

Brigantine ¢ Whig,”” of New York—entered January 13, 1849; sailed
January 21, 1819,

Barque ¢ Casco’’—entered January 13, 1849; sailed January 21, 1849,

Brig ¢ Imogeu’’—entered Junuary 13, 1819; sailed January 21, 1849,

Brig ¢« Rowena”’—entered January 13, 1S19; sailed January 21, 1849,

Barque ¢ Pilot,”” of Boston—entered January 13, 184Y; sailed January
21, 1849.

Hermaphrodite brig ¢« Chatsworth,™” 1,846, J. D. Johnson, master—
entered January 11, 1850; sailed January 21, 1850.

Barque ¢ Mary Richardson”—entered January 11, 1850; sailed January
21, 1850.

Brig ¢« Lucy Ann’’—ecntered January 11, 1850; sailed January 21,
1850.

Note By L. M. PowerL.—I believe these vessels have all been cap-
tured, with the “Ann D. Richardson,” ¢ Huntingdon,”” ¢ Snow,”’
¢ Incarnacion,”” and others.

U~rren Stares somw ¢ Jonn Avaws,”’
Of Ambriz, April 19, 1850,

Sir: I have herewith the honor to acknowledge the receipt of your
letter of the 11th April, together with the euclosure of a copy of a portion
of your instructions, which you have so kindly commuuicated for my
information.

You have taken great trouble to answer the complaint of the master of
the ¢¢ Catharine’ and others; and, althongh I feel Lound to transmnit the
document to the cornmander-in-chief, yet the object of the government is
ina great measure accomplished in bringing this subject before the higher
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authorities of both squadrons. In explanation of that portion of my letter
quoted by you, I believe that I speak by authority when I say that ¢ the
United States are sincerely desirous wholly to suppress the iniquitous
traflic, and with that view have declared it to be piracy.”

It is also to be observed that the piracy of which 1 speak is piracy by
the laws of nations, and not that which is made so by the municipal laws
of any particular country. Of the latter character is the slave trade,
which is declared to be piracy by act of Congress. The right, therefore,
which, by the general consent of nations, cxists in regard to vessels
suspected of being engaged in piracy, does not extend to those suspected
of heing engnged in the slave trade. As to them there is no right of
visitation or search, so far as American vessels are coucerned, except by
our own vessels of war. But the claim of the United States that their
trading vessels shall not be visited for any purpose (except on suspicion
of piracy) by the cruisers of other nations, presupposes that the vessel
visited 1s really American. In what manner this fact is to be ascertained,
is the only question which presents any difficulty.

The flug which the vessel wears is prima facie evidence, although it
is not conclusive proof, of her nationality. It is a mere emblem, and
loses its true character when it is worn by those who have no right to
wear it.  Any vessel which displays the American flag claims to be
American, and therefore may be rightfuily boarded and examined by an
American cruiser, if there be any circmstances attending her to justify a
suspicion that she is not what she professes to be. DBut the privilege
does not extend to cruisers of any other nation; that is, it cannot be con-
ceded to thew as a riekt.  'Uhe United States certainly do not claim that
the mere hoisting of their flag shall give immunity to those who have no
right to wear it.  Such a preteusion would subject their flag to degrada-
tion and dishenor, because it would muke it a cover for other criines of
similar atrocity. But they do claim that their own citizens who rightfully
display it shall have all the protection which it implies. YWhenever, therefore,
a cruiser of any other nation shall venture to board a vessel under the
tlag of the United States, she will do it on her own respounsibility for all
the cousequences. ) A

The eighth article of the treaty scems to have been agreed to with the
undoubted view of preventing all ditficulty or disagreement on this point,
and to enable the naval officers of the respective parties to it to co-operate,
nainly (in addition to the suppression of the slave trale) in order to re-
move all cause or pretext for the exercise of either scrutiny or protection
over the commerce of each other.

Thus far I believe I may venture to say that I express the views and
policy recognised by our government, and for any violation of which, by
them, or with their consent, the naval officers of the United States will
be held accountable.

Nor are these principles held to be true when applied to foreign officers
ouly. The same obligations are imposed on the naval officers of the Uni-
ted States iu their relations with the vessels of all other nations.  No right
of visit, no right of search, uo scrutiny or examination, no interference
whatever witn the merchaut matiue of other unations, is authorized or
countenanced by the goverument of the United States, except in cases of
well-grounded suspicions of piraey. -

Notwithstanding, such is the exigency of the duties of the naval service,
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that T need not tell you our naval officers are often called on to visit ves-
sels of all nations on the high seas, whenever, under a foreign flag, the
visit is one of courtesy, solely for the purpose of giving and receiving in-
formation, and I may add, perhaps, of cultivating those amicable feelings,
by friendly acts, which are enjoined by our government with great carn-
estuess in their instructions.

I feel obliged to you for so much of your instructions as you have kindly
communicated to me. When we thus know the boundary, we are better
prepared to keep within the limits. Be pleased to accept the foregoing as
my response to the points therein, and as a more full explanation of my
letter of the 10th.

Notwithstanding these variant views, I doubt not, when the cases arise,
a cotmmon ground broad enough for both will easily be found by officers
sincerely desirous of effecting the humane purpose of our common object.

I am, sir, very respectlully, your most obedient servant,

L M. POWELL, Commander.

To Captain the Hon. Geonrar F. Hastives,

Com’g her Britannic Majesty’s steam-ship < Cyciops,”’
senior officer in command of Southern Division of her
Britnnic Majesty’s naval forces, soutlwest coast of Africa.

Her Brrraxyie Masesty’s stoam-gaie ¢ Cycrors,”’
Of Ambriz, southwest coust of Africa, April 18, 1850,

Sir: Tu reply to your letter of the Sth instant, forwarding an aflidavit
made before you, marked A, by Braddick Chester, mate of the American
brigantine ¢ Louisa Beaton,” relative to the inspeetion of that vessel's
hold hy an oflicer of her Britannic Majesty’s sloop ¢ Flying Fish,”” on the
28th of March Jast, off Kabeuda, I acquaiut you that, having met the
“Flying Fish’ this day, and placed the subjeet before her commander,
he has forwarded me his reply, a copy of which, marked No. 1, I transmit
for your information, and trust that the same will be satisfactory to you.

Whilst lying at Ambriz, in her Britaunic Majesty’s steam-ship under
my conunaud, on the 8th instant, the ship you -ommand being in con-
pany, the ‘ Louisa Beaton™ arrived at that anchorage; and, ascertaining
that some cabin supplies could be procured from that vessel, several of the
officers of the ship visited her for the purpose of purchasing a few articles—
the master of the said vessel being, I believe, on board the ship you com-
maued at the same time, making the complaint you forwarded to me rela-
tive to the charge atlecting an oflicer of the ¢« Flying Fish.>” It so hap-
pened that two of the oflicers of the ¢ Cyclops’’ entered into conversation
with the lady passenger, who it appears is the master’s wife; and, in the
course of conversation, without any solicitation on their part, she related
the particulars of the occurrence before mentioned, and, on their return to
the ¢ Cyclops,” having hewrd the charge made by Mr. Bail:y, the hus-
band of the laldy, they handed me a statement, of which the enclosed,
matked No. 2, is a copy.

I would further abserve, that the boarding of the ¢ Louisa Beaton’® by
the « Flying Fish’’ ok place, or is said to have taken place, on the 25th
March, between which date and the Sth iustant she was boarded by her
Britannic Majesty’s steam-ships ¢ Gladiator’’ and ¢ Rattler,”’ also by the
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United States brig-of-war “Perry;”’ and I am informed by the respective
oflicers commanding these vessels (for I made it my business to inquire
of them) that no complaint was made to those officers, on their boarding
her, by the master of the ¢ Louisa Beaton,’’ against the act said to be com-
mitted by the officer of the ¢ Flying Fish,’” on the date allud=d to; and it
does, thercfore, appear to me that having heard that a correspondence was
passing between us, on the 8th instaut, having reference to the recent
capture of Brazilian vessels, who attempted to evade the search of her Bri-
tannic Majesty’s zruisers by displaying an American ensign and presenting
fraudulent Awmerican papers, induced the party to come before you with an
imaginary complaint of the interference by a British officer with an Ameri-
can vessel.

The mate of the Brazilian harque -¢Navarre’s’ affidavit is also dated
the same day—when the said mate had the opportunity, as I have pre-
viously stated to you in my letter of the 9th iustant, the very day afier the
capture of his vessel, by presenting himself, in the harbor of lLoando,
before the United States oflicer in command of the ¢ Perry,”’ at the time
the ¢ Firefly’’ was present there, to make the affidavit or complaint in
question; but none was made at that period.

I hope the explanations otlered will be deemed satisfactory; and acquaint
you that the whole of the correspondence which has passed between us
will be submitted by me to my commauder-in-chief, who, I have no doubt,
will take an early opportunity of communicating with Commodore Greg-
ory, commanding the United States squadron on this coast, on the suhject,

I have the houor to be, sir, your obedient scrvaut,

GEO. F. HABTINGS,
Captain in her Britannic dMajesty’s Navy.

Levix M. PowreLy, Fsq.,

Commander United States Navy, connanding
United States ship ¢ John Adams,” senior afficer
of the United States nuval forces south of the equator.

No. 1.

Her Masestv's snoop “Fryine Fisn,”’
Ojf Ambriz, April 18, 1850.

Sir: In compliance with your directions, 1 have called upon the officer
(Licutenaut Holme) sent in charge of the boats of her Majesty’s sloop
“Flying Fish,”” under iy command, which were sent to board a strange
sail on the eveniug of the 21st of March, (and not the 25th, as your letter
states,) which proved to be the “‘Louisa Beaton;'” and herewith enclose
the statement of Lieutenant Holine, relating fully the particulars of his pro-
ceedings on board of said vessel. Beiug fully acquainted with the strin-
gent orders requiring great caution to prevent ~iving ground of complaint
on boarding vessels displaying the colors of the United States of America,
I have not failed to impress on the oflicers appointed to this duty the ne-
cessity of strict adherence both to the letter and spirit of them.

1t being about nine o’clock iu the evening, and consequently dark, when
the “Louisa Beaton’ was boarded, no colors were displayed on bouard
either vessel; cousequently, the vessel was not known to be of the United
States of Auwerica until boarded by Licutenant Holme. I beg to add, in
confirmation of Lieutenant Holume's letter, that, on his return to her Majes-
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ty’s sloop under my command, and reporting to me his proceedings on
“board the “Louisa Beaton,” it perfectly agreed with the statement which he
now makes in his letter—the truth of which is further confirmed by the report
which you have enclosed to me from your office, which it appears they
received in the course of a conversation with the wife of the master of the
said vessel, some time after the occurrence complained of. I may further
add, that I have no reason to imagine the master of the ‘“Louisa Beaton’’
had any comnplaint to make as to the manuer of Lieutenant Holme’s ex-
amination, as, on the forenoon of the following day, the vessels being be-
calmed near each other, 1 gave permission to some of the officers of the
“Flying Fish’’ to go on beard the said vessel, for the purpose of purchas-
ing supplies for their messes &c., which they were most readily supplied
with, and [ am informed that the greatest gnod fecling existed Letween
them. Neither did I receive from the master of the vessel any commu-
nication, or complaint relative to boarding the vessel by Lieutenant
Holme, on the previous evening.
I have the honor to be, sir, your obedient servant,
G. EDWIN PATEY,
Commander.
Captain the Honorable G. F'. Hasrxes,
Her Majesty’s steam-ship << Cyclops.”’

Her Masesey's sroor ¢ Fryvive Fisa,”
Off Ambriz, April 18, 1850,

Smr: In compliance with your directions, I beg to state the particulars -
of the hoarding of the ¢ Louisa Beaton’’ by the boats of this sloop, under
my charge, on the night of the 2Ist (the “Louisa Beaton’’ was boarded
on the 21st, not 28th, March, by the boats of her Majesty’s sloop «Flying
Fish’’) March last, oft’ Kabenda.

On boarding, I examined the vessel’s papers, to ascertain her nation-
ality; but, seeing on her deck some large water-casks and plank, I asked
the master if he would permit me to look into his hold, as several vessels
had lately been captured wearing the colors of the United States, but
whose papers, on examination, were found to be false. He answered that
he was aware of the abuse of his flag, and that he in no way objected to
satisfy me in respect to his cargo; and Aémself ordered the hatches to be
taken off. I then entered the afterhold, a man with a lantern attending.
But a part of the cargo was disturbed. The master then asked me if I
would like to examine the forehold. I assented, When I descended,
the mate (I think) pointed to soiue casks containing powder, but not untit
the lantern had been lowered into the hold.” I should think that the ex-
amination lasted about fifteen minutes, after which I spent some time
with him in conversation with the master—during which time, and in
subsequent communications, he made no complaini of my proceedings.
And I beg farther to say, that the vessel was not in any way detaiued.

I have the honor to be, sir, your mast obedient servant,
’ L. F. HCLME, Lieutenant.

Geo. E. PaTEy, Esq.,

Commander H. M. sloop “Flying Fish.”’
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P. S.—I may be permitted to add that my report is fully borne out by
the statement of the master’s wife to the officers of the ¢“Cyclops,”’ in
which it will be perceived that no complaint was made at the time of the
manner of my examination. E. F. H.

No. 2,

Her Masesty’s stEanm-smp ¢“Cycrops,”’
O Ambriz, April 8, 1850.
We, the undersigned, do hereby certify, that on this day we were pres-
ent in the cabin of the American brigantine ‘“louisa Beaton,’”’ and were
informed by Mrs. Bailey, the captain’s wife, ¢“that, on the evening of the
28th of March last, the said vessel was suddenly boarded by a boat of her
Majesty’s sloop ¢Flying Fish;’ that, after ascertaining her nationality,
the boarding officer said to Mr. Bailey, ¢I dare say it is all right; but what
are. you doing with all these water-casks on deck? Have you any objec-
tion to letting me see your holds?” Upon which my husband immediately
ordered the mate to open them; and the boarding officer was so well
pleased with their contents, that some of the officers of the ¢ Flying Fish’
visited the ¢ Louisa Beaton ’ the next day, and made considerable purchases
for their messes from her stock of sundries.”
H. ADAIR,
First Licutenant Royal Marine Artillery.
H.J. K. MIELL,
Clerk:.

Ux~xtreEp States sure ¢ PorrsyoutH,””
Porto Praya, June 8, 1850.

Sir: I have the henor to transmit you herewith a report from Com-
mander Marston, covering the complaint of Captain Benjamin Joseph, of
the brig ¢¢ Bridgeton,”’ of Philadelphia, that his vessel had been improp-
erly boarded by the British gnn-brig ¢ Contest,”’ with the correspondence
had on the subject. The only objection I find to Commander Marston’s
conduct on the occasion is, that he should have expressed himself satis-
fied, when it was his duty to have left it an open question, and referred
the matter to me.

I had information that the brig ¢ Bridgeton’’ was on the coast for the
purpose of being employed as a slaver; that she sailed from Bahia with
an entire crew of Brazilians, excepting the captain. Commander Marston
found that her crew were Brazilians, but suffered her to pass on a certifi-
cate of the United States consul at Bahia ¢“that Americans could not be
obtained for the voyage.”” I have every reason to believe that this vessel,
after having been supplied with an anchor from the ¢ Yorktown,’’ left the
coast with a cargo of slaves. The law requires that all American vessels
shali have a certain portion of their crews Ainericans. I am not aware
that an American consul has the power, under any circumstances, of de-
viating from the law. I would respectfully request your instructions on
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‘this point; for I would certainly have arrested the ¢ Bridgeton,’” had I
fallen in with her. ' ‘ :

I have the honor to be, very respectfully, your obedient servant,
F. H. GREGORY,

: Commanding African Squadron.
Hon. Wwm. BaLLarp PresToN, -
Serretary of the Navy, Washington, D. C.

Unrrep StaTes saip ‘‘ YORKTOWN,’
Monrovia Roads, April 8, 1850,

Sir: I deem it my duty specially to report to you, that, while lying at
Quitta, the American brig ¢ Bridgeton,” of Philadelphia, came in, the
captain of which, Benjamin Joseph, reported to me that her Britannic
Majesty’s brig ¢‘ Contest,’’ commanded by the Hon. J. W. S. Spencer,
then at anchor near me, had, on the night of the 27th February, boarded
him, and searched every part of his vessel, going down into the hold with
lights, opening casks, lockers, &c., &c. I immediately took his deposi-
tion, in confirmation of what he had stated to me, which he swore to, in
presence of proper witnesses, and which is herewith enclosed to you. "I
then wrote to Captain Spencer, protesting against his searching any Amer-
ican vessel in future—a copy of which communication I herein enclose to
y01]1 ,-as also a copy of his answer to the same, as well as that of my reply
to him. -

Trusting that my action in the case will prove satisfactory to our gov-
ernment, as well as to yourself, I have the honor to be, very respectfully,

your obedient servant,
JOHN MARSTON, Commander.
Com. Fraw~cis H. Grecory,
Comananding U. 8. naval forces, west coast of Afiica.

UNiTED STATES SHIP ¢ YORKTOWN,’
Of Quitta, March 2, 1850.

Sir: Since I had the pleasure of seeing you this morning, I have had
an interview with Benjamin Joseph, the master of the American brig
¢ Bridgeton,”’ of Philadelphia, who informed me that, on the night of the
27th of February, he was boarded by a boat from your brig, and that your
officers and men, after having been informed of his nationality, searched
every part of his vessel, opening lockers, and going down into the hold
with lights, opening casks, &c.

The United States do not recognise the right of any nation to search an
American vessel; and one of the chief objects of the treaty between our
respective governments in placing an Americen squadron on this coast
was to avoid any difliculty which might arise from vessels of Great Britain
visiting those of America.

I therefore deem it my duty to protest against your searching any Amer-
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ican vessel in future, and to inform you that the present instance will be
referred to my government.
I have the honor to be, very respectfully, your obedient servant,
JOHN MARSTON,
Commander U. S. N.
Captain SPENCER, '
Commanding H. B. M. brig ¢ Contest,”’ off Quitta.

Her Brrrannic MasesTy’s sLoor ¢ CoNTEST,”’ :
Of Quitta, March 2, 1850. -

Sir: T have the honor to acknawledge the receipt of your letter of this
day’s date, relative to a statement made by the master of the brigantine
¢ Bridgeton,’’ of being searched, on the evening of the 27th ultimo, by a
boat belonging to her Majesty’s brig under my command. *

I beg leave to inform you that your letter gave me the first intimation
that such an occurrence had taken place.

I have since made-inquiries from the subordinate officer, who was sent
on board the ‘¢ Bridgeton’’ for the sole purpose of bringing that vessel’s
log and passport, by the master’s request; and I very much regret to find
that the subordinate officer allowed his boat’s crew to leave their boat, and
that they looked into the hold and a locker; but all-deny having made any
further search.

I can only express my sincere regret that the officer should so much
have neglected his duty as to allow any of his crew to leave their boat.
Our instructions particularly direct that, when a search is to be made, the
officer’s rank shall not be under third in command; and as this officer is
very junior, I trust that you will see that no infringement on the treaty
between the United States and Great Britain was intended, as, had it been
my intention to search, I should have sent the second lieutenant, at least.

I have the honor to be, very-respectfully, your obedient servant, :

JOHN W. S. SPENCER,
Commander.
Captain J. MagrsTox, ‘
United Stutes Navy, commanding U. 8. ship ¢ Yorktown,”’
off Quitta.

Unrrep StaTEs suip ¢ YorgTowN,”’ '
OfF Quitta, March 2, 1850,

Sir: I have the honor to acknowledge the receipt of your letter, in an-
swer to mine of this day, and have pleasure "in saying that, so far as you
are concerned, it is perfectly satisfactory, and I shall feel gratified in for-
warding a copy of the same to the commander-in-chief.

The young officer whom you speak of as having disobeyed your orders,
no doubt, did it under a misapprehension of his duty, and I trust that it
will be so considered by Commodore Fanshawe.

I have the honor to be, very respectfully, your obedient servant,

JOHN MARSTON,
Commander.
Captain Jonn W. S. SPENCER,
' Commanding H. B. M. brig ¢« Contest,” off Quitta.
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Unrrep States suip ¢ YORKTOWN,”’
Of Quitta, March 2, 1850.

This is to certify that I commaud the American hermaphrodite brig
¢ Bridgeton,” of Philadelphia; and that, on the night of the 27th of Fely
ruary, 1850, I was boarded by a boat from her Britannic Majesty’s brig
“Oolltest,” Captain Spencer, and that every part of my vessel was
searched with lights by the English officers and _men, opening casks,

lockers, &c., &c.
BENJAMIN JOSEPH,
Master of the American brig Bridgeton, of P/uladcl,;lua

Signed, sealed, and sworn to in my presence.
JOHN MARSTON,
Commander.
Witnesses:
Tuonmas R. Roorrs, Lieutenant.
Joun L. Fox, Surgeon.

Unitep StaTeEs smip ¢ PorrsmouTd,’’
Porto Praya, June 8, 1850.
Sir: I have the honor to enclose you the copy of a letter from Com-
mander Slaughter, covering the eroxtof Captain H. N. Canfield, of the
American schooner ¢ David C. Foster,” complammo of the conduct of
the commander of the British brig-of: war ¢ Wolverine.’
I shall take the earliest opportumty of bringing the matter to the notice
of the commander of the British forces.
I have the honor to be, very respectfully, your obedient servant,
F. H. GRE G()RY
Commanding African S 1uadron.
Hon. Wum. Barrarp Preston,
Secretary of the Navy, Washington, 12, C..

UxiTeEp StTaTES BRIG ¢ BAINBRIDGE,”’
Porto Praya, May 28, 1850.
Sir: I have the honor to lay before you a communication (together
with a fair copy of the same) made nie by the master of the American
schooner ¢ David C. Foster,”” complaining of the insult offrred the
American flag by the commander of her Britannic Majesty’s brig the
¢¢ Wolverine,’’ in firing at his vessel, and his unjustifiable procedure in
ordering the schooner to heave-to, that he might send a boat on board to
examine her at his leisure, which was unceremoniously done—the officers
coming on board without asking permission, and the vessel thereby sub-
ject to detention, when it was hlghly important she should reach her port
of destination as soon as possible, for reasons therein assigned. I respect-
fully submit this statement to you for consideration, as I have no authority
to act in the case.
I am, sir, very respectfully, your obedxent servam
. SLAUGH’ l‘ER
Commander.
Commodore Francis H. GrEGoRY,
Commanding African Squadron, Porto Praya.
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Scrnooner ¢ Davip C. Foster,”’
Liberia, Port of Monrovia, May 13, 1850.

Dear Sir: I wish to inform you that I have been detained by the
British brig-of war ¢ Wolverine,”” while on a voyage from New Orleans
to Liberia, that caused much suffering on board. The. pariiculars,
perhaps, will be worth your notice, and, as I have been put to considera-
ble expense and trouble, I feel it my duty to lay them before you for your
consideration:

March 12.—The schooner ¢“David C. Foster’ was cleared in New
Orleans, with seventy-cight emigrants as passengers, with their provisions,
for the port of Monrovia, Liberia.

Marel 17.—Put to sea. After twenty-five days at sea, finding that I
was short of wood, it was thought proper to cook but one meal per day.

Muay 1.—The last of the wood was consumed in latitude 7° 50" N.,
longitude 13° 38" W. .

May 2.—Iight o’clock a. m., made a brig on our lee bow,-about 12
miles distant, steering about SE. by 8. I was then steering i3k, with
the wind SW. fresh. At 12 o’clock (same date) made Cape Mount, lati-
tude 6¢ 26" N,, longitude 11° 40’ W. Altered my coursc to SE. by S.,
the brig being about six miles astern; made her out a brig-of-war.

Muy 3.—Three o’clock p. m., hoisted her colors; as soon as possible I
hoisted thie American colors. The wind getting light, she gained on the
schooner fast. At half-past 4 o’clock, the wind breezing again, the brig
began to drop astern. She then fired a gun for me to heave-to. I hove
up in the wind, and hauled my jib-sheet to windward, and waited for her
to come up with me. As soon as she was in hailing distance, she hailcd
me, and ordered me to shorten sail, that he might, at his pleasure, send a
boat alongside. After the brig had shortened sail, a boat came alongside,
with two oflicers and five men, (the officers coming on board without per-
mission,) and very abruptly demanded to know who was the captain. I
then intormed them that I was the master of the vessel. He then said
his only business was, to inform me that the reason the captain of the
“Wolverine’’ detained me was because I did not hoist my colors sooner.
Afier conversing between themselves for a few moments, they said they
were satistied, and got in their boat, and went on board the brig. I then
made sail, and pursued my voyage for Monrovia. Had I not been de-
tained, I should have arrived in port on Friday morning; but was after-
wards becalmed, and did not get in port till it was too late to land my
emigrants on Saturday; and there was much suffering, for want of proper
food and fuel to cook with. 1f, then, you think the matter worth your
notice, I ask for some protection against such insults when pursuing my
lawful business,

Your obedient servant,
N. H. CANFIELD,
Master of the American schooner < David C. Foster.”

Captain SLAUGHTER,
Of the American brig-of-war ¢ Bainbridge.”



